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The results from 2021 further demonstrate 
Provident10’s ability to deliver on its 
promise to provide a secure income to 
every member throughout their retirement. 
In a year that once again saw fluctuating 
markets, Provident10 was able to stay the 
course and chart an impressive journey that 
looks ahead.

The stability of the Public Service Pension 
Plan (PSPP) highlights the diligent work of 
the investment team and the strength of 
the approved asset mix. This combination 
brought fruitful results and we are pleased to 
report that the PSPP Fund exceeded the 9% 
policy benchmark in 2021, earning a rate of 
return of 11.2%. The Plan ended the year with 
a funded ratio of 109.2%, a 8.2% increase 
year over year.

The achievements from our investments run 
parallel with the success that the Provident10 
team continued to sustain. From enhancing 
the member experience to advancing the 
maturity level of the organization’s internal 
control and risk management frameworks, 
the organization made significant 
advancements in 2021. We extend our thanks 
to the entire team who pushed our strategic 
initiatives forward. 

Throughout 2021, the Board continued 
to adapt business practices to meet the 
challenges of the ongoing pandemic, and the 
experience and leadership of our Directors 
guided the development of the new strategic 
plan, Now to Next: Our Path to 2026. 
Collectively we are proud of the foundation 
that has been laid and are equally proud to 
endorse the plan and support leadership in 
its implementation. 

The world today is undoubtedly 
characterized by a high degree of 
uncertainty and a rapid pace of change. The 
risk-balanced strategy of the organization 
and Board will work to enhance the 
organization’s long-term sustainability 
by planning proactively. Having rigourous 
decision-making frameworks and disciplined 
processes ensures stakeholders’ best 
interests are always front and centre.  

In 2021, the Board welcomed new director, 
Theresa Heffernan who brings immense 
knowledge and expertise to Provident10. 
We also offer our appreciation and well 
wishes to outgoing Directors, Michelle Jewer 
and Louise Poirier-Landry. Their significant 
contributions aided the Board  
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Loyola Sullivan
Vice Chair of the Board

and organization in its success, and we owe 
them many thanks for their service.

To all Plan members we affirm that the 
continued structure of joint governance 
safeguards equal representation for 
Plan Sponsors and members and is the 
cornerstone for a mutually beneficial 
partnership between the Government 
of Newfoundland and Labrador and the 
representative unions.

The successes that the Provident10 team 
accomplished in 2021 are evident within this 
annual report and act as a catapult to a future 
that will continue to provide members with a 
retirement that is bright and assured.  

a message from the Board of Directors

Bert Blundon 
Chair of the Board
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2021 marked a critical moment in 
Provident10’s strategic journey. Since our 
inception, Provident10 has been laying 
a strong foundation for our organization 
and the PSPP to prosper. This year, the 
Provident10 team and Board of Directors 
turned our focus to our future aspirations 
and strategic objectives for the next five 
years, while continuing to meet the  
Plan’s promises.

With the ongoing pandemic, staying 
dedicated to building a secure, stable 
future for our members has continued to be 
challenging but of the upmost importance. 
Not only did Provident10 securely 
manoeuvre the year’s turbulence, our team 
adapted and remained unwavering in its 
commitment to our over 55,000 members. 

The Fund remains poised for the long-
term and is fully funded for a third year in 
a row. An accomplishment that is due to 
the immense determination and flexibility 
of our investment team and to a portfolio 
that provided returns beyond our stated 
benchmarks. Though uncertainties will 
always exist, over the past 10 years the 

financial health of the Plan has improved and 
is well situated for the years to come. 

The team at Provident10 continues to be 
committed to ensuring pensions are paid 
and our operational service standards meet 
the needs of our members. I am proud to 
continue to lead a team that not only strives 
for, but achieves, a high level of success. 

Though 2021 in some ways mirrored 2020, 
we accelerated our journey forward by 
focusing on the future. We shifted from 
the inaugural strategic plan, that was 
transitionary in nature, to a new chapter in 
becoming a best-in-class, scalable pension 
administration and investment management 
organization. This journey included the 
development of our five-year strategic plan, 
Now to Next: Our Path to 2026, that aims to 
make Provident10 “Brilliant at the Basics.” 

Our strategic plan allows us to continue 
to support our members and stakeholders 
as we aspire to be an industry leader in 
pension and investment services, a trusted 
brand that leads in member satisfaction, and 
a recognized employer of choice. 
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As we look back at the foundation we have 
laid, we also remain focused on what is truly 
the heart of the organization: our promise 
to our members. A promise of a future that 
offers security and predictability even in the 
most uncertain times. 

On behalf of our dedicated team, I offer 
our commitment and assurance to this 
promise as we chart a new path forward and 
continue on our journey to become brilliant 
at the basics. 

a message from our CEO

Chuck Bruce
CEO
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year in review

Established a new 
five-year strategic plan 

(2021–2026) 

Supported members 
through 4,899 life events  

(retirement, terminations, survivor 
benefit, purchase of service)

Welcomed 837 
new pensioners to 

retirement  

Remained fully funded 
(109.2%) for the third 

year in a row

Achieved a total 
return, net of fees, 

of 11.2%, exceeding 
benchmarks by 2.2%

Attained a 95% 
member satisfaction 

rating 

Completed pensioner 
payroll transition for 
19,042 pensioners  

2,559 members 
participated in online 
member education 

webinars

10-year
net annualized 
return 10.3%

Proudly supported 
local organizations The 

Community Food Sharing 
Association, CHANNAL,  
and The Gathering Place   
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2021

In another unpredictable year, Provident10’s commitment to the future remained 
steadfast. Throughout a turbulent year, the organization was successful in maintaining 

the business continuity and service coverage members expect and deserve. 

Important programs like the internal control framework, enterprise risk management, and 
lifecycle education advanced, driven by Provident10’s commitment to modernize, improve, 

and adapt processes and tools to ensure a secure and stable pension fund for its members.



For some members retirement may be decades away; for others it could be 
just around the corner. How those pensions are funded and dispersed both 
in the present and long-term is determined by the Plan’s Sponsor Body, the 
Board of Directors, and Provident10 as the Plan’s Administrator. Providing 
each member with a secure income throughout their retirement is at the 
heart of everything Provident10 does. 

Since 2015, financial management and 
future planning of the Fund has evolved and 
Provident10 has been at the centre of that 
transformation. As the organization overseeing 
the management of the Public Service Pension 
Plan, Provident10 must continue to adapt to 
the changing financial landscape to ensure 
continued success and sustainability for 
members. 

Though the Plan has been fully funded for 
the past three years, and the overall health of 
the Plan has improved over the past 10 years, 
there are important on-going considerations 
and uncertainties that can impact the Plan’s 

repayment of a promissory note from the 
Government of Newfoundland and Labrador. 

The promissory note is currently 20% of the 
total net assets of the Fund, and provides 
steady cashflow and liquidity to the Fund, 
which is beneficial in providing stability to the 
funded status. 

The Plan’s financial standing is shown through 
funding and financial statement valuations. 
Each of these funding valuations helps to 
ensure the Plan remains secure and continues 
to be on the path to full funding.    

sustainability of the fund 

MANAGEMENT COMMENTARY

funded status, including, an aging Plan member 
profile, the global investment and economic 
environment, continued effects of the pandemic, 
and heightened global political tensions. 

The PSPP Funding Policy is designed 
to guide the Plan towards full funding 
to ensure retirement security. It lays out 
defined thresholds that must be met before 
implementation of any Plan improvements 
are allowed and identifies whether changes 
are required to improve Plan funding. Growth 
of the Fund is generated through three 
main components: Member and Employer 
Contributions, investment earnings, and 

The FUND101 video provides a quick look into how the Fund works 
to pay member pensions. Visit us on YouTube to learn more.

funding your pension
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sustainability of the fund 

As of December 31, 2021, the Fund’s net 
assets available for benefits was $11.7 billion, 
an $805 million increase from 2020. The 
Plan’s net assets consist of investments 
of $9.3 billion and the promissory note 
balance of $2.4 billion. The Plan’s Accrued 
Benefit Obligation as of December 31, 
2021, was $10.7 billion, As a result, the Plan 
had a surplus of $1.0 billion at the end of 
2021 resulting in a funded ratio of 109.2%, 
compared to a funded ratio of 101% in 2020. 
The significant increase in funded ratio 
resulted from strong investment returns and 
changes to the actuarial assumptions - which 
decreased the accrued benefit obligation for 
the year. The discount rate was updated to 
reflect the current economic environment, 
resulting in an increase from 5.85% in 2020 
to 6.00%. In addition, the assumptions 
relating to termination rates were updated to 
reflect recent experience, and the mortality 
rates were updated to reflect current life 
expectancies.

FIGURE 1 :  FUNDED RATIO OVER T IME
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investment strategy and performance 
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The Provident10 investment team oversees 
the investment strategy as set out in the 
Statement of Investment Policies and 
Procedures (SIP&P) with the goal of producing 
a well-diversified portfolio of investments, 

which will ultimately support future member 
benefits. The most important aspect 
of Provident10’s investment portfolio is 
strategically selecting the appropriate mix of 
assets to invest in. 

The current mix includes four key areas: 
equities (stocks), fixed income (bonds), 
absolute return (hedge funds), and real assets 
(real estate and infrastructure). This mix is 
reassessed every three to five years to ensure 
it remains aligned with the Plan’s funding 
policy and investment goals. 



Fund Level Benchmark Value Added

Total Plan 11.2% 9.0% 2.2% 

Canadian Equity 24.1% 25.1% -1.0%

Global Equity 14.6% 17.5% -2.9%

Private Equity 52.0% 19.5% 32.5% 

Fixed Income -1.7% -2.5% 0.8% 

Global Credit -0.3% -1.0% 0.7% 

Commercial Mortgages 3.1% -1.1% 4.2% 

Listed Infrastructure 1 16.3% 14.5% 1.8% 

Private Infrastructure 15.1% 9.7% 5.4% 

Real Estate 16.8% 8.7% 8.1%

PERFORMANCE

The Fund’s portfolio performance is 
measured by two key metrics:   

Generating long-term returns on invested 
assets in excess of the Funding Policy’s  
6% discount rate

Exceeding the return of the Policy 
benchmark on a 4-year annualized basis. 

For the year ending December 31, 2021, the 
Fund achieved both performance targets. In 
terms of the primary target, the 10-year net 
annualized return of 10.3% is well ahead of 
the Plan’s 6% discount rate. On a four-year 
net annualized basis, the Fund achieved a 
return of 9.3% versus a policy benchmark of 
7.7%, producing 1.6% of annual value added 
and exceeding the secondary target. 

This outperformance, or “added value,” allows 
for the evaluation of the effectiveness of the 
investment strategy and its implementation 
at the total Fund level. Benchmarks are 
valuable tools Provident10 uses to measure 
performance of individual asset classes 
and the managers who invest in them on 
Provident10’s behalf. 

investment strategy and performance 

FIGURE 4:  TOTAL NET OF FEES CAD $ RETURNS

The Fund earned a net 2021 return of 11.2% compared to the benchmark policy return of 9.0%, 
producing 2.2% of added value.  On an absolute basis, Canadian, global, and private equites primarily 
contributed to the Plan’s overall return for 2021.  Value added was largely attributed to the Plan’s 
private assets and mainly via the Plan’s private equity allocation. 

Provident10 uses a thorough and rigourous 
risk-controlled approach by choosing an 
optimized risk level within a multi-year 
framework and by selecting and weighting 
asset classes to achieve a target return. By 
identifying an acceptable risk threshold, 
Provident10 can determine the mix of assets 
with the best chance to achieve its goal.  
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Net Investment return 
for 2021 11.2%  

 Contributions $364.5 million vs 
Benefits $666.4 million paid   

 Net Assets Available for 
Benefits $11.7 billion

key figures

1

2

1 Weighted approximation return calculation  



investment strategy and performance 

PUBLIC EQUITIES

Canadian and global equites performed well 
on an absolute basis, generating returns of 
24.1% and 14.6% respectively. Overall value 
added for public equities was negative for 
the year, largely attributed to growth style 
managers which struggled to keep up 
with benchmarks in the wake of a broader 
reopening of the economy. 2021 saw a 

2
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FIGURE 5: TOTAL FUND PERFORMANCE

general reversal of the impressive returns 
generated in 2020 in the wake of pandemic 
oriented technology disruptors. In contrast, 
value managers exceeded benchmarks year-
on-year in 2021, in comparison to under-par 
performance in 2020. Overall, the Plan has 
benefitted from the diversification of offsetting 
growth and value styles over a total market 
cycle. Despite a challenging year, the Plan’s 

public equity value add remains strong over a 
four-year horizon and beyond. 

FIXED INCOME

The Plan’s Canadian and global public fixed 
income generated negative returns driven 
mainly by rising yields. Canadian fixed income 
returned -1.7% and global credit generated 
-0.3% on an absolute basis. On a relative basis, 
both asset classes exceeded benchmark with 
Canadian managers achieving 0.8% of value 
added and global managers contributing 0.7% 
of value added. Relative to benchmarks, the 
Plan benefited from managers’ active security 
selection and harvesting of credit premia. 
Commercial mortgages generated satisfactory 
absolute returns of 3.1% and superior value 
added of 4.2%, benefiting from an overall lower 
duration profile in the wake of rising yields and 
active harvesting of illiquidity premiums. 

PRIVATE EQUITY 

The Plan’s most impressive returns in 2021 
were contributed by private equity. On an 
absolute basis, private equity generated 
returns of 52.0% and value added of 32.5%. 
These extraordinary results – which are 
not expected to set a precedent for the 
upcoming year - are a function of the stage 
of life of the program. After a patient 5 years 
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program, the Plan has benefited from strong 
investor and economic demand for digital 
infrastructure assets—such as data centers—a 
need which has been further catalyzed by 
lasting structural consumer demands of the 
pandemic. In addition, strong investor demand 
for energy transition assets such as wind, 
solar and smart monitoring technology has 
furthered the Plan’s gains in the asset class. 
Similar to private equity, overall institutional 
demand and commitment to the asset class 
has, in general, been increasing and has 
maintained strong returns in the asset class in 
most categories. 

of progressively investing along what is 
known as the “J-Curve,” the Plan’s program is 
approaching a maturity phase where various 
buyout and growth-oriented programs have 
achieved their business plan and valuation 
objectives. This has led to significant exits or 
realized distributions and unrealized gains to 
the Plan. Private equity valuations, in general, 
remain anchored by strong investor demand 
for the asset class. 

REAL ASSETS 

Real assets have provided strong absolute 
returns and impressive value add in 2021. 

Real estate was a strong contributor, earning 
16.8% on an absolute basis and 8.1% of 
value add relative to benchmark. The Plan’s 
core Canadian held portfolio has benefited 
largely from investments in the industrial 
sector, based on strong logistical demands 
of the economy. Paired with lagging supply, 
industrial properties have experienced strong 
rental growth and investor demand which 
have moved property valuations significantly 
higher in 2021. 

Similarly, the Plan’s infrastructure program 
produced strong returns of 15.1% and value 
add of 5.4%. Within the infrastructure 

investment strategy and performance 
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Following 2020’s intense pandemic 
drawdown and a subsequent rebound, 
2021 was a story of continued economic 
momentum and recovery. Investor confidence 
increased with COVID-19 vaccine distributions 
and a progressive re-opening of economies, 
although periodic challenges remained with 

2021 investment environment

ever evolving virus variants, notably Delta and 
Omicron later in the year. 

During the first quarter of 2021, institutional 
investors digested rising bond yields, strong 
consumer demand, and concerning inflation 
indicators in the face of pandemically 

disrupted supply chains. By the second quarter, 
initial market worries subsided, as inflationary 
pressures were deemed manageable and 
“transitory” in nature. Fears however resurfaced 
later in the year and despite a continued 
economic recovery, the supply - demand 
inflation narrative continued, with global central 



Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 TOTAL

S&P TSX Composite Index 8.1% 8.5% 0.2% 6.5% 25.0%

S&P 500 (CAD$) 4.7% 6.9% 2.9% 10.7% 27.6%

MSCI AC World Index (CAD$) 3.2% 5.8% 1.2% 6.4% 17.5%

FTSE Canada Bond Universe Index -5.0% 1.7% -0.5% 1.5% -2.5%

Bloomberg Global Bond Aggregate Index (CAD $ Unhedged) -5.7% -0.2% 1.4% -1.0% -5.5%

2021 investment environment

FIGURE 6:  MARKET INDEX TABLE 
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banks acknowledging the issue and signalling 
a potential reversal of decades – long 
accommodative monetary policies. 

Equity markets fared well during the year, 
with the MSCI All Country World Index and 
S&P 500 Index netting double digit returns, 
as institutional investors celebrated a strong 
economic recovery and discounted any 
persistent inflation concerns. Value styles 
outperformed growth stocks as institutional 
investors rotated away from the virtual 
economy back to a more fulsome pre-
pandemic economy. Canada and the S&P 
TSX Composite Index performed equally well. 
Notable returns stemmed from the energy 

sector, which benefitted from a global supply 
imbalance, alongside significant demand 
resulting from the global economic rebound. 

Most fixed income indices around the world 
earned negative rates of return during 2021. 
Both the FTSE Canada Bond Universe Index 
and Bloomberg Global Bond Aggregate 
Index produced moderately negative returns, 
following a general rise in bond yields during 
the year. In Canada, with the exception of 
High Yield and Real Return bonds, all other 
categories - not including T-Bills - had total 
negative returns. The Canadian versus US 
Dollar value was flat over the period.  

• The world’s Central Banks have been 
suggesting increasing interest rates 
to manage an ever-growing inflation 
problem. 

• Worsening geopolitical issues are raising 
the overall level of volatility of many asset 
classes. 

• Central Banks are withdrawing their 
asset purchases and limiting the upside 
potential of markets. 

• Actual inflation results are significantly 
higher than anticipated. 

• The recurrence of a COVID-19 epidemic 
as opposed to the forecasted endemic 
scenario has shaken markets. 

investment outlook  
uncertainties  
2022 and beyond



Provident10’s priority has always been 
and remains to create and sustain a Plan 
that works for members above all else. 
In 2021, the organization focused on 
finding new opportunities to connect with 
valued members and stakeholders on the 
topics that are important to them. These 
opportunities included expanding the 
lifecycle education program, developing 
useful member resources, and launching a 
LinkedIn profile to reach more members. 
Provident10 also hosted employer 
information sessions, including the first 
in-person employer symposium, sought 
increased feedback through telephone 
surveys to gage member satisfaction, and 
prioritized consistent service standards for 
the organization’s pension administration 
processes. 
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a plan that works for you

27,898  
active members  

23,107  
pensioners

40 
participating employers

973 
new pensioners

11 
pensioners  

over 100 years old

1.21 
ratio of active  

members to pensioners

2,331 
new members

active members by age

<25: 2% 
25-34: 17%  
35-44: 27%  
45-55: 33%  
>=55: 21%

active members  
gender profile 

F: 69%  
M: 31%

https://www.linkedin.com/company/provident10-nl/


Questions Avg Rating  
 from 1–5

Overall Rating 4.7

The information presented was  
relevant and met my expectations? 4.6

The content was easy  to understand? 4.5

The module increased my knowledge 
about my pension benefits and the 
Public Service Pension Plan?

4.7

I feel that the information provided  
will help in the planning for my  
retirement?

4.6

I would recommend this  
presentation to my colleagues? 4.8

Provident10 strives to meet members where 
they are in their financial journey and provide 
helpful resources and educational tools so 
they can rest assured that their retirement 
is in safe hands. This year the organization 
continued to advance and innovate on these 
services.

In 2021, Provident10 completed the final 
phase of transitioning over 19,042 pensioners 
to the new payroll provider, CIBC Mellon. 
The transition of pension payroll from the 
Government of Newfoundland and Labrador 
(GNL) began in 2018 with 4,500 pensioners. 
The overall project involved multiple 
stakeholders including Provident10, GNL, and 
the payroll provider, who formed a steering 
committee to ensure the remaining transition 
would be as seamless as possible. It is thanks 
to this collaborative effort that the transition 
has been such a success.

In an effort to meet members with the 
information they need when they need 
it, 2021 also saw a significant overhaul of 
Provident10’s educational programming. As a 
valuable member tool the lifecycle education 
program, also known as Member Webinars, 
were a key focus area this year. When 
the program first began in 2020, its goal 
was to transform the standard three-hour 

employer-sponsored retirement sessions 
into virtual education modules that would 
ready members for retirement. After a year 
of offering Retirement Ready webinars, the 
organization undertook a fulsome review of 
the Life Cycle Education Program, informed 
by member feedback on the virtual  
sessions and offered opportunities for  
further enhancement. 

The Retirement Ready webinars were 
repackaged from three presentations to two, 
and two new webinars, “New Members” and 
“Enhancing Your Pension Benefit,” have been 
added to increase member knowledge of 
the value of the Pension Plan. This approach 
has resulted in a complete menu of webinar 
options for members to choose from 
depending on the stage of their career and 
their interests. The virtual webinars continue 
to be well received with 2,559 members 
participating throughout the year.

To assess the program’s success and 
opportunities for enhancements, webinar 
attendees are invited to complete a survey. 
The results from the members who attended 
in 2021 are shown in Figure 7.

putting our members first

FIGURE 7:  MEMBER WEBINAR 
                SATISFACTION RESULTS
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Each year the Plan welcomes an average 
of over 1,500 new members, each of whom 
play a vital role in the growth of the Plan 
and the overall health of the Fund. In 2021, 
the organization exceeded that average, 
welcoming 2,331 new members. Some may 
be coming from other pensions plans but to 
many a pension is a new benefit. Providing 

As Provident10 moves toward exploring 
new and exciting evolutions, establishing 
itself as a trusted brand remains one of 
the organization’s top priorities. In 2021, 
Provident10 introduced a new Stakeholder 
Relations Department that has been  
assessing external communication activities 
that support brand awareness among 
members and key stakeholders. In co-
ordination with the release of the first digital 
annual report, the organization launched the 
first phase of its social media strategy with a 
public profile on LinkedIn. 

The platform provides the opportunity for 
the organization to connect directly with Plan 

welcoming new members

expanding our reach

educational resources to new members  
is a priority that enhances their understanding 
of the Plan and how their financial future  
is protected. 

New members now receive a welcome 
package from Provident10—an initiative 
designed to support the learning process 

and inclusion of new members. The package 
includes a letter from the CEO that promotes 
the new member webinar sessions and a 
newly created Plan at a Glance. This summary 
serves as a digestible introduction to the 
PSPP, covering the most important aspects of 
their Pension Plan. 

members and other key stakeholders  
and acts as a medium for building 
brand awareness and profiling key 
accomplishments. The platform is also a 
means of enhancing Provident10’s recruitment 
strategy by promoting employment 
opportunities within the organization.

As Provident10 implements its new five-year 
strategic plan, continuing to enhance the 
organization’s relationship with members  
and participating employers, in part through 
digital engagement that can capture the 
attention of existing and potential partners, 
will continue to drive Provident10’s work and 
people-centric mission. 
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Process Number of cases 
 in 2021

1st Retirement Pensions 837

Terminations / Refunds 1,549

Process Plan Member Termination Election 422

Survivor Benefits 238

Purchase of Service 1,853

TOTAL 4,899

Earning and keeping members’ trust is what drives 
Provident10. How members rate their experience 
interacting with the organization’s pension 
administration team is essential to evaluating the 
organization’s success. 

The organization received over 14,000 calls. At the 
end of each call, members are invited to stay on 
the line to complete a short three-question survey 
on their experience and the service they received. 
Over 2,000 members took the time to provide 
their feedback on the experience and the results 
of the inquiries show high levels of satisfaction 
with the service and support they received.

serving our members

Interactions

Phone Call Volume 14,410

Phone Responses (Voicemail) 341

Written Responses 17,554

TOTAL 32,305

SURVEY RESULTS

100%  treated in a courteous and professional manner

97%  inquiry addressed to satisfaction

4.69  satisfied with service on a scale of 1-5 (5 being highly satisfied) 

15.4% participation
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FIGURE 8:  MEMBER L IFE EVENTS
FIGURE 9:  INTERACTIONS    
                WITH MEMBERS



On average, in 2021, Provident10 exceeded 
the targeted service standards. The team 
prioritizes retirement pensions and survivor 
benefits — ensuring members and their 
families can transition as seamlessly as 
possible to receiving pension benefits. 
Provident10 will continue to look for ways to 
enhance processes for targets that were not 
fully attained in 2021. 

Notably, 2021 saw a 54% increase in 
the volume of membership terminations 
compared to 2020. Subsequently the 

serving our members
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organization did not meet the service target. 
It is premature to predict if this will be a new 
normal or if it is a result of the current shift 
in mass resignations due to the pandemic, 
however, in response to the increase in 
volume, the organization is prioritizing 
operational improvements that will enhance 
terminations and other similar processes, 
with the addition of team members to 
support these requests and a new fulsome 
case management solution that will be fully 
operational in 2022.

Process Target Achievement

1st Retirement Pensions 90% income continuance from 
submitted payment date 98.7%

Terminations / Refunds 90% within 30 days 74.1%

Process Plan Member Termination Election 90% within 30 days 95.8%

Purchase of Service 90% within 90 days 91.1%

Survivor Benefits 95% within 30 days 98.7%

Phone Answer Rate 90% 95.5%

Phone Responses 95% within 2 business days 96.2%

Written Responses 95% within 5 business days 94.0%

For each inquiry and transaction, Provident10 strives to uphold the following service standards.

FIGURE 10:  SERVICE STANDARDS ACHIEVEMENT 



Finding ways to connect with participating 
unions, employers, and key associations 
was identified as an essential activity for the 
organization. The objective of this outreach 
was to provide educational resources, 
streamline processes, and identify potential 
collaboration areas to enhance ongoing 
communication with Plan members. 

In 2021, the organization launched Asked & 
Answered, a new education program focused 
on and driven by employers. Provident10 held 

When Provident10 says that people drive 
us, the organization is referring to its Plan 
members, but Provident10 also thinks about its 
employees and the positive experience they 
deserve. As COVID-19 continued to shape the 
days and months of 2021, the organization was 
successful in maintaining business continuity 
and service coverage. Provident10 focused 
efforts on supporting employees and their 
diverse needs, while ensuring the business 
operations remained stable. 

In 2021, the organization worked to enhance 
the employee experience by encouraging 
personal and professional growth through 
unique wellbeing offerings, staying 

partnering with our employers

building our culture

four sessions over the course of 2021, each 
of which centred around frequently asked 
questions about the day-to-day administration 
of the PSPP. The sessions served as a form 
of professional development and provided 
greater insight and role clarity for both the 
employer and Provident10. Over 30 employers 
regularly attended the sessions, representing 
99.7% of active members in the Plan. 

Additionally, the organization sought 
out further opportunities to enhance the 

employer’s payroll data reporting process by 
introducing an Employer Data Portal (EDP). 
The EDP allows participating employers to 
submit payroll files where data is tested, 
providing opportunities to correct any data 
errors and properly validate information. The 
portal has been successfully implemented 
across 11 participating employers in 2021 and 
will continue to transition to the remaining 
employers in 2022.

competitive with compensation through 
short-term incentives, providing opportunities 
to give back to the greater community, 
and promoting the existing learning and 
development program. 

A key goal of the organization is to create a 
culture of engagement, development, and 
recognition. In 2021, Provident10 selected a 
new recognition solution which will launch in 
2022 to ensure strategic alignment with key 
employee engagement initiatives, including 
Provident10’s five-year anniversary. 

In 2021, Provident10 welcomed external 
partners to provide educational conversations 
surrounding physical and mental wellbeing, 

and the organization recognized the first 
National Day of Truth and Reconciliation by 
offering a corporate wide training session 
with First Light, St. John’s Friendship Centre 
about Indigenous cultural diversity. 

As a relatively new organization with 
evolving programs, Provident10 continues 
to look for opportunities to promote and 
implement enhancements that offer further 
value to employees and the organization. 
The organization knows that working to 
be recognized as an employer of choice 
and building a culture of diversity, equity, 
and inclusion is an ongoing mission that 
Provident10 must continually seek to amplify. 
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NOW TO NEXT OUR PATH TO 2026

1. Industry Leader  
in pension and  
investment  
service offerings

2. Trusted Brand  
that leads in  
member satisfaction

3. Recognized  
Employer of choice

The strategic vision and journey for the 
organization has always been grounded 
in becoming Brilliant at the Basics. While 
the PSPP has a long history, the story of 
Provident10 is still in its early stages. Since 
Provident10’s beginnings, a great deal of work 
has taken place to position the organization 
for long-term success. 

The year 2021 marks a critical moment in the 
organization’s strategic journey, turning its 
focus to future aspirations through a five-year 
strategic plan, Now to Next: Our Path to 2026. 
However, to understand the commitments and 
decisions needed to position Provident10 as a 
leader in the industry, the organization will build 
on its accomplishments, emerging track record, 
ability to exercise agility in times of uncertainty, 
and external market forces to inform and guide 
future direction and decisions.

During the development of the five-year 
strategic plan, Provident10 placed a significant 
emphasis on enterprise risk management 
(ERM) and the strategic and operational 
risk registers. This led to more focused 
discussions and mapping of the organization’s 
strategic risks onto the five-year strategic 
priorities and initiatives.

Provident 10 is committed to setting the next 
direction and foundation for its five-year 
strategic plan (2022–2026) – a vision that 
continues to elevate People, Process, and 
Technology as the critical factors to building 
the right foundation for the organization’s 
long-term success. Looking ahead to what 
2026 will look like for Proivdent10, the 
organization has a vision that is modern, 
focused, and people-centric.

BECOMING BRILLIANT  
AT THE BASICS

Brilliant at the Basics is a theme and an integral 
part of the organization’s multi-year journey. 
It is not only a statement, but also a promise 
– that Provident10 will continue to elevate 
its success with good governance, key 
relationships, and innovation. The next phase 
of the organization’s journey reflects the effort 
that is required to realize the returns from the 
foundation laid. 

aspirations

To achieve these limitless ambitions 
the management team, supported by 
the Board, outlined five strategic pillars 
that will help chart a new path for the 
organization. 

By 2026, Provident10 aspires to be: 
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NOW TO NEXT OUR PATH TO 2026

DRIVING STABLE  
LONG-TERM GROWTH

+ Provident10 will evaluate new opportunities
based on criteria that align with the
organization’s values, aspirations, and
operational readiness. The organization’s
continuous growth will be grounded in
prudent financial decisions and strategic
actions including expanding service offerings
while protecting the promise for members
of the Plan and ensuring fairness in the
Plan costs and benefits is achieved across
generations of members.

ENABLING SERVICE 
EXCELLENCE THROUGH 
TECHNOLOGY ADAPTATION 
AND MODERNIZATION

 modernization 
 service delivery. 

+ The organization understands the importance 
of technology in enabling
of pension administration
Modernization will advance member and 
stakeholder experiences as well as generate 
business efficiencies and mitigate risk 
associated with current systems. Provident10 
is committed to improving the pension 
administration system and making the 
necessary enhancements to introduce robust 
technologies that improve business processes 
while developing user friendly member 
engagement tools.

ENHANCING TRANSPARENCY 
AND ENGAGEMENT  
WITH MEMBERS AND 
STAKEHOLDERS

+ The team at Provident10 is dedicated to
continually building trust and protecting the
relationship with its members and stakeholders
through transparent communications throughout
all aspects of the organization. Committed to
understanding the evolving needs of members
and stakeholders, the organization will engage
with stakeholders to inform brand development
and member service offerings and increase
financial literacy.

DEVELOPING TALENT AND 
FOSTERING A PURPOSE-
DRIVEN CULTURE

+ Committed to fostering a values-based and 
purpose driven organization, Provident10 is 
building an organizational culture where its 
core values and beliefs are modelled top-
down and lived bottom-up. Provident10’s 
team is a critical factor of its long-term 
success and as a result, is allocating training 
and funds to elevate the talent experience. 
The organization rests in the strength of a 
diversified talent pool across all teams and 
aims to attract and retain skilled talent to 
reflect the members it serves.

LEADING WITH  
STRONG GOVERNANCE

+ Good governance is a fundamental principle
at Provident10 and provides the organization
with its license to operate. The organization
is committed to investing in IT governance
and risk management to maintain the highest
standards of ethical conduct.
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Provident10 operates in a joint trustee 
governance structure, between government 
and the five participating unions. Provident10’s 
governance structure includes three groups 
as prescribed in the Joint Sponsorship 
Agreement (JSA): the Board of Directors, 
the Sponsor Body, and the Provident10 
management team. The Board have 
experience in pension plan governance, 

asset-liability management, investment 
strategies and capital markets, as well 
as pension laws, risk management, and 
compliance. They have overall responsibility 
for pension administration, corporation 
management, actuarial reporting, and 
investment management. The Board acts 
independently of the Sponsor Body and 
Provident10’s management and, as fiduciaries, 

are legally bound to act in the best interests of 
all Plan members. 

In addition to the three groups, there are three 
sub-committees that play an advisory role to 
the Board: the Audit and Finance Committee, 
the Investment Committee, and the 
Governance and Human Resources (G&HR) 
Committee. 

The Board of Directors was engaged and 
consulted on key initiatives throughout the 
year, specifically Enterprise Risk Management, 
Strategic Planning, and the creation of the 
Corporate Objectives and Balance Scorecard. 
These initiatives play a pivotal role in ensuring 
alignment on priorities and the organization’s 
approach to leading them. The creation and 
implementation of these initiatives mark a 
significant milestone for the organization, and 

the organization is very pleased to receive  
the Board’s full endorsement on each of  
these initiatives.

The Provident10 Board of Directors 
Remuneration Policy details the payment 
received by each Director, which includes 
an annual honorarium and a per-meeting 
attendance allowance. Government and 
Union employees are not eligible for the per-
meeting attendance allowance.

Directors are also reimbursed for reasonable 
travel expenses. Meeting attendance and 
remuneration details for each Director are 
reported in the following table. The table 
includes attendance at duly constituted and 
ad hoc meetings. The Board Chair and Vice 
Chair are ex-officio, non-voting members  
of all committees.

board oversight
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MANAGEMENT COMMENTARY

governing the plan



Name Board Audit Investment G&HR Remuneration

Bert Blundon • Board Chair 1 6/7 3/4 2/3 7/8 $12,375.00

Loyola Sullivan • Board Vice Chair 1 7/7 4/4 3/3 8/8 $13,625.00  

Dawn Learning • Chair Investment Committee  6/7 - 3/3 - $2,500.00

Donna Brewer • Chair Audit and Finance Committee 7/7 4/4 - - $10,000.00

Doug Laing  7/7 4/4 3/3 - $7,500.00 

Jennifer Dove  7/7 4/4 - 8/8 $10,000.00

John Vivian 7/7 - 3/3 8/8 $1,250.00

Kevin Dumaresque 7/7 - 3/3 6/8 $8,250.00 

Louise Poirier-Landry 2 2/3 - 2/2 4/4 $3,125.00  

Mary Galway  6/7 - 3/3 7/8 $8,750.00  

Michelle Jewer 3 1/3 1/1 - - $625.00  

Randell Earle • Chair G&HR Committee  6/7 - - 8/8 $9,000.00  

Robert Cashin  5/7 4/4 - - $1,250.00

Sharon Sparkes  6/7 4/4 - 2/2 $7,250.00  

Theresa Heffernan 4 2/2 1/1 - - $468.75  

Nancy-Beth Foran • External investment expert - - 3/3 - $3,250.00  

Will Small • External investment expert - - 3/3 - $3,250.00  

FIGURE 11 :  MEETING ATTENDANCE AND REMUNERATION  

board oversight
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1 The Board Chair and Vice Chair are ex-officio, non-voting members of all committees.   
2 Louise Poirier-Landry – Reported up to June 8, 2021  
3 Michelle Jewer – Reported up to May 16, 2021  
4 Theresa Heffernan - Reported as of August 16, 2021

  



Strong internal governance is essential to 
ensuring fortified operational commitment 
to Provident10’s 55,000 members. The 
organization’s culture of accountability, where 
every member of the team must protect the 
assets under their authority, ensures regular 
policy compliance and plays a role in the 
continuous improvement Provident10  
strives for. 

The establishment of an Internal Control 
Framework (ICF) is the foundation of that 
culture and has been an early priority for 
Provident10 that will continue to shape the 
future. An ICF enables an organization to 
assess its internal controls and provide 

risk management and internal controls

reasonable assurance that they are 
working as intended. The ICF strengthens 
Provident10’s ability to ensure the risks 
related to the stewardship of the Plan and its 
resources are adequately managed. 
 
The ICF is integral in the progression 
of Provident10’s Enterprise-wide Risk 
Management Framework (ERM), which informs 
the risk exposure and risk assessment of the 
organization. Both frameworks will remain 
closely linked as the organization continues  
to evolve. 
 In 2021, Provident10 developed a systematic 
risk-based internal audit planning process, 
which informed the development of the first 
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approved risk-based internal audit plan for 
execution in 2022. 

The organization also advanced the 
maturity level of its internal control and 
risk management frameworks with the 
addition of key resources and risk training 
and awareness, including risk impact 
and likelihood assessment, evaluation of 
inherent and residual risk, and identification 
of risk mitigation strategies. This past year, 
Provident10 welcomed a new Director of Risk 
and Compliance and a new Internal Auditor. 



employee rewards and 
compensation program

The organization is committed to transparency with respect to the compensation of members of 
Provident10’s Executive Team. The following summary includes the compensation details for the 
Executive Leadership Team in 2021.

compensation disclosure

FIGURE 12:  EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION REPORTING

Position Year Base Salary STIP Total Cash  
Compensation

Chief Executive Officer  2021 $ 340,000  $ 136,000 $ 476,000 

2020 $ 285,000 $ 85,500    $ 370,500   

Chief Investment Officer 2021 $ 306,793 - $ 306,793  

2020 $ 300,000 $ 120,000 $ 420,000

Vice President Finance  2021 $ 184,026 $ 46,229 $ 230,255

2020 $ 180,318  $ 45,322 $ 225,640

Vice President Systems and Quality  2021 $ 177,950 $ 44,650 $ 222,600

2020 $ 175,102 $ 43,990   $ 219,092

Vice President Human Resources &  
Administration 1 2021  $ 162,001 - $ 162,001

2020 $ 168,149 $ 42,343 $ 210,492

Provident10 has a progressive compensation 
philosophy, known as the Total Rewards 
Program, that follows a pay-for-performance 
model for each employee’s compensation 
(bargaining and non-bargaining), including  
the executive team. 

The Total Reward Program is comprised of  
base salary, variable compensation driven by 
the Short-Term Incentive Program (STIP), a 
group insurance program, and membership 
in the PSPP, and is consistently applied at all 
levels of the organization. 

The program was developed by reviewing 
the compensation programs of comparable 
organizations according to various factors  
such as industry, size, assets under 
management, regional demographics, and the 
ability to attract, retain, and reward talent. 

The Board of Directors approves the 
compensation principles and philosophy for the 
organization as well as the salary and variable 
compensation of the CEO. 

Annually, the Board of Directors is presented 
with the Corporate Objectives Performance 
Report in support of the organization’s Short-Term 
Incentive (STI) Program. The Program is designed 
to ensure alignment of priorities between 
the organization and Board of Directors and 
provides the Board with the opportunity to assess 
corporate performance metrics. 
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1 Reported up to December 10, 2021 
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KPMG LLP, an Ontario limited liability partnership and member firm of the KPMG global organization of independent  
member firms affiliated with KPMG International Limited, a private English company limited by guarantee.  
KPMG Canada provides services to KPMG LLP. 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 

To the Board of Directors of Provident10 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of Provident10 (the Entity), which comprise: 

• the statement of financial position as at December 31, 2021

• the statement of operations for the year then ended

• the statement of cash flows for the year then ended

• and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies

(Hereinafter referred to as the “financial statements”). 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements, present fairly, in all material respects, 
the financial position of the Entity as at December 31, 2021, and its results of operations 
and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian accounting 
standards for not-for-profit organizations. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing 
standards. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the “Auditors’ 
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements” section of our auditors’ report. 

We are independent of the Entity in accordance with the ethical requirements that are 
relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Canada and we have fulfilled our other 
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for our opinion. 

Other Information 

Management is responsible for the other information. Other information comprises: 

• the information, other than the financial statements and the auditors’ report thereon,
included in the Annual Report.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not 
and will not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 
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In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is 
materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit 
and remain alert for indications that the other information appears to be materially misstated. 

We obtained the information, other than the financial statements and the auditors’ report 
thereon, included in the Annual Report as at the date of this auditors’ report. If, based on the 
work we have performed on this other information, we conclude  that there is a material 
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact in the auditors’ 
report. 

We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance 
for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit 
organizations, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to 
enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Entity’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends 
to liquidate the Entity or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Entity’s financial 
reporting process. 

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements 
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue 
an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always 
detect a material misstatement when it exists. 

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in 
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of 
users taken on the basis of the financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we 
exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 
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We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Entity's internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Entity's ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we
are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in
the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of
our auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Entity to cease
to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

• Communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

Chartered Professional Accountants 
St. John’s, Canada 
June 24, 2022 
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2021 2020

(000s) (000s)

Assets

Current assets

1,382$  1,965$  
45  45 

103 92 
615 306 

Cash 
Receivable from Province of Newfoundland and Labrador 
Harmonizes Sales Tax receivable (HST receivable)
Prepaid expenses
Current portion of promissory note receivable (note 2) 50,312 47,464 

52,457 49,872 

Capital assets (note 3) 891 1,116 
Promissory note receivable (note 2) 2,314,135 2,364,447 

Total Assets 2,367,483 2,415,435 

Liabilities and Net Assets

Current liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 1,911$  1,696$  
Payable to Public Service Pension Plan (note 4) 92  490 
Payable to Province of Newfoundland and Labrador (note 5) 184  358 
Deferred tenant inducement 325 388 
Straight-line rent 96 105 
Current portion of promissory note payable (note 2) 50,312 47,464 

52,920 50,501 

428 487 Other post-employment benefits liability (note 6)
Promissory note payable (note 2) 2,314,135 2,364,447 

Total Liabilities 2,367,483 2,415,435 

Commitments (note 11)

Net Assets -$  -$   

The accompanying notes to financial statements are an integral part of this financial statement.

On behalf of the Board:

Director Director

Provident10

Statement of Financial Position
31 December 2021
with comparative information for 31 December 2020
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2021 2020

(000s) (000s)

Revenue

Management fees (note 9) 11,427$   10,298$   
Interest 140,536  143,223  

151,963  153,521  

Expenses 

Salaries and benefits 6,771  6,579  
Professional services 1,108  877  
Directors and committees 126  110  
Postage and service charges 241  188  
Interest 140,536  143,223  
Amortization 250  230  
Other operating expenses 2,931  2,314  

Total Expenses 151,963  153,521  

Excess of Revenue Over Expenses -$  -$   

Provident10

Statement of Operations

For the year ended 31 December 2021

with comparative figures for the year ended 31 December 2020

The accompanying notes to financial statements are an integral part of this financial statement.
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2021 2020

(000s) (000s)

Cash provided by (used in):

Operating activities
Net earnings -$  -$   
Items not involving cash:

Amortization of capital assets 313 292  
Amortization of tenant inducement (63)  (62)  
Decrease in straight-line rent (9)  (6)  

(59)  64  
182 288  

Change in non-cash operating working capital:

-  (26)  
(Increase) decrease in HST receivable (11)  43  
Increase in prepaid expenses (309)  (50)  
Increase in accounts payable and accrued liabilities 215 418  
Decrease in payable to Public Service Pension Plan (398) (287) 

(174) (174) 
(495)  212  

Investing activities:
Purchase of capital assets (88)  (91)  
Proceeds on promissory note receivable 47,464 44,777  

47,376 44,686  

Financing activities:
Repayment of promissory note payable (47,464)  (44,777)  

(47,464)  (44,777)  

(Decrease) Increase in Cash (583)  121  

Cash, Beginning of Year 1,965 1,844  

Cash, End of Year 1,382$   1,965$   

The accompanying notes to financial statements are an integral part of this financial statement.

Provident10

Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 31 December 2021
with comparative figures for the year ended 31 December 2020

Increase in receivable from Province of Newfoundland 
and Labrador 

Decrease in payable to Province of Newfoundland 
and Labrador

(Decrease) increase in other post-employment 
benefits liabilities
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Provident10 
Notes to Financial Statements 
For the year ended 31 December 2021 

Provident10, (the “Corporation”), is a not-for-profit organization incorporated on 31 March 2015 
under the authority of Section 36.1 of the Public Service Pensions Act 1991 (the “Act”). The 
Corporation changed its name to Provident10 from Public Service Pension Plan Corporation, 
effective 27 August 2017.  

The purpose of the Corporation is to act as Trustee of the Public Service Pension Plan (the 
“Plan”) and to serve as administrator of the Plan.  The Corporation is bound, with the Board of 
Directors, to act in accordance with the Joint Sponsorship Agreement between Her Majesty in 
Right of Newfoundland and Labrador and the Association of Allied Health Professionals, the 
Canadian Union of Public Employees, the International Brotherhood of Electrical Workers, the 
Newfoundland and Labrador Association of Public and Private Employees, and the Registered 
Nurses’ Union Newfoundland and Labrador (collectively the “Unions”). A service level 
agreement (the “Service Level Agreement”) was signed between the Corporation and the 
Province of Newfoundland and Labrador (the “Province”) to allow the Province to continue to 
administer the Plan for an interim period of 12 months.  The agreement expired on 31 March 
2017.  The Province continues to provide limited administration services covered by this 
agreement for the disbursement of pension payments on an interim basis (note 9).   

The Corporation operates under a cost recovery basis, as provided for in the Service Level 
Agreement.  The Corporation is exempt from income taxes, provided certain requirements of the 
Income Tax Act are met.   

1. Significant accounting policies

(a) Basis of presentation:

The financial statements have been prepared by management in accordance with
Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations in Part III of the Chartered
Professional Accountants (CPA) Canada Handbook.

(b) Revenue recognition:

Fee revenue is recognized as services are provided and collection is probable.

(c) Financial instruments:

Financial instruments are recorded at fair value on initial recognition.  All financial 
instruments are subsequently recorded at cost or amortized cost unless management 
has elected to carry the instruments at fair value.  The Corporation has not elected to 
carry any such financial instruments at fair value.  Transaction costs incurred on the 
acquisition of financial instruments measured subsequently at fair value are expensed as 
incurred.  All other financial instruments are adjusted by transaction costs incurred on 
acquisition and financing costs, which are amortized using the straight-line method.  

Financial assets are assessed for impairment on an annual basis at the end of the fiscal 
year.  If there is an indicator of impairment, the Corporation determines if there is a 
significant adverse change in the expected amount or timing of future cash flows from 
the financial asset.  If there is a significant adverse change in the expected cash flows, 
the carrying value of the financial asset is reduced to the highest of the present value of 
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the expected cash flows, the amount that could be realized from selling the financial 
asset, or the amount the Corporation expects to realize by exercising its right to any 
collateral.  If events and circumstances reverse in a future period, an impairment loss will 
be reversed to the extent of the improvement, not exceeding the initial carrying value.    

(d) Use of estimates:

The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure
of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the
reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the year.  Significant items subject to
such estimates and assumptions include accounts payable and accrued liabilities and
other post-employment benefits.  Actual results could differ from these estimates.

(e) Capital assets:

Capital assets are recorded at cost less accumulated depreciation and include amounts
that are directly related to the acquisition design, construction, development,
improvement, or betterment of the assets directly attributable to construction and
development.

The cost, less residual value, of capital assets is amortized on a straight-line basis over
their estimated useful lives as follows:

Leasehold improvements Over the term of lease 
Furniture, fixtures and 
equipment 

5 years 

Computer hardware 3 years 
Computer software 3 years 
Telephone system 3 years 

Capital assets are written down when conditions indicate that they no longer contribute 
to the Corporation’s ability to provide goods and services, or when the value of future 
economic benefits associated with the capital assets are less than their net book value. 

(f) Other post-employment benefits liability:

Under the collective agreement between the Newfoundland and Labrador Association of
Public and Private Employees and the Corporation, employees identified on Schedule A
of the Joint Sponsorship Agreement are eligible to participate in the Province’s other
post-employment benefits plan (the “OPEB Plan”).  The OPEB Plan provides group life
insurance and health care benefits on a cost shared basis to retired employees, should
they continue to meet the Province’s eligibility requirements.  The associated employer
portion of the costs for the Corporation’s employees will be borne by the Corporation.

The obligation at the end of the year is determined based on the most recent actuarial
valuation report prepared for accounting purposes.  The measurement date of the
obligation coincides with the Corporation’s year end.  The date of the most recent
actuarial valuation of the obligation prepared for accounting purposes is 31 December
2021.
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(g) Deferred tenant inducements:

In 2016, the Corporation entered a ten-year lease for its corporate office.  Under that
agreement, the landlord funded renovations to the space as tenant inducements.  These
tenant inducements are deferred and amortized on a straight-line basis over the term of
the related lease.

(h) Straight-line rent:

Under the Corporation lease for its corporate office, there are increases in base rent
over the term of the lease. The base rent cost over the full lease term, including free rent
periods, have been determined and are amortized on a straight-line basis over the
term of the related lease.

2. Promissory note

The Province issued a $2.685 billion promissory note to the Corporation on 31 March 2015
as part of pension reform.  The Plan has a right to receive the proceeds of the promissory
note from the Province held by the Corporation. The note is receivable over 30 years in
quarterly blended installments of principal and interest of $47 million. The promissory note
bears interest of 6%. The payments will be made regardless of the funded status of the
Plan. The promissory note is non-marketable.

As at 31 December 2021, the balance receivable is $2.364 billion (2020 - $2.412 billion).

Principal repayments of the promissory note receivable by the Province to the Corporation
and by the promissory note payable by the Corporation to the Plan over the next five years
(in thousands) are as follows:

2022 $50,312 
2023 $53,331 
2024 $56,530 
2025 $59,922 
2026 $63,518 

3. Capital assets

2021 2020 

Cost 
(000s) 

Accumulated 
Amortization 

(000s) 

Net Book 
Value 

(000s) 

Net Book 
Value 

(000s) 
Leasehold improvements $1,430 $679 $751 $890 
Furniture, fixtures and 
equipment 553 503 50 148 
Computer hardware 304 214 90 68 
Computer software 112 112 - 9
Telephone system 58 58 - 1

$2,457 $1,566 $891 $1,116 
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4. Payable to Public Service Pension Plan

Payable to the Plan represents total charges to the Plan plus HST less operating funding
received.

The receivable is non-interest bearing and due when the invoice is rendered.

5. Payable to Province of Newfoundland and Labrador

Amounts payable to the Province are non-interest bearing and payable on receipt of invoice.

6. Other post-employment benefits liability

The obligation was calculated as at 31 December 2021 under Sections 3462 and 3463 of
the CPA Canada Handbook – Accounting by the Corporation’s actuary.  In determining the
liabilities under Section 3463 of the CPA Handbook, projected unit credit method
prorated service was used for the accounting valuation.

The significant assumptions used were as follows:

31 December 2020 accrued 
benefit liability and 2021 

expense 

31 December 2021 accrued 
benefit liability 

Discount rate 2.80% 3.40% 
General inflation 2.00% 2.00% 
Salary increases 3.60% 3.60% 
Health premium 
inflation/trend 

0.0% in 2018, 5.89% in 2019, 
decreasing linearly each year 
to an ultimate rate of 3.60% in 
2040 

12.96% in 2021, 5.56% in 
2022, decreasing linearly each 
year to an ultimate rate of 
3.60% in 2040 

Mortality CPM – 2014 Public Sector with 
generational projection using 
scale CPM-B 

CPM – 2014 Public Sector with 
generational projection using 
scale CPM-B 

Termination 2014 Public Sector Experience 
Study, with annual sample 
rates: 

 Age 20: 16.48%
 Age 25: 16.48%
 Age 30:   9.49%
 Age 35:   7.13%
 Age 40:   5.56%
 Age 45:   4.61%
 Age 50:   3.60%
 Age 55:   0.00%

2014 Public Sector Experience 
Study, with annual sample 
rates: 

 Age 20: 16.48%
 Age 25: 16.48%
 Age 30:   9.49%
 Age 35:   7.13%
 Age 40:   5.56%
 Age 45:   4.61%
 Age 50:   3.60%
 Age 55:   0.00%

Disability None None 
Retirement If eligible to retire before 1 If eligible to retire before 1 
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January 2020:  
50% at the earlier of age 55 
with 30 years’ service or age 
60 with 5 years’ service. 
Remainder at the earlier of the 
35 years’ service or age 65.  
If not, then:  
57.5% at the earlier age of 58 
with 30 years’ service or age 
60 with 10 years’ service.  
Remainder at the earlier of 35 
years’ service or age 65.  

January 2020:  
50% at the earlier of age 55 
with 30 years’ service or age 
60 with 5 years’ service. 
Remainder at the earlier of the 
35 years’ service or age 65.  
If not, then:  
57.5% at the earlier age of 58 
with 30 years’ service or age 
60 with 10 years’ service.  
Remainder at the earlier of 35 
years’ service or age 65.  

Spouse age difference Females three years younger Females three years younger 
Members electing 
coverage benefits at 
retirement (“Participation 
Rate”) 

95% 95% 

Coverage elected at 
retirement 

65% Family 65% Family 

The other post-employment benefits liability as at 31 December 2021 is calculated as 
follows: 

(000s) 
Other post-employment benefits liability assumed by the Corporation as at 31 
December 2020 $487 

Other post-employment benefits cost (income) (57) 

Company payments (2) 

Other post-employment benefits liability as at 31 December 2021 $428 

7. Pension Plan

Qualifying employees of the Corporation participate in the Plan, a multi-employer defined
benefit pension plan, which provides pension benefits based on length of service and
earnings.

Contributions to the Plan are required by both the employees and the employer.  The
Corporation’s contributions range from 8.95% to 11.85% of pensionable earnings.  Total
employer contributions for 2021 were $467 thousand (2020 - $405 thousand) and are
recognized in salaries and benefits expense in the statement of operations.

The Corporation is not responsible for any underfunded liability, nor does the Corporation
have access to any surplus that may arise in the Plan.
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8. Sick leave

Under the collective agreement, employees identified on Schedule A of the Joint
Sponsorship Agreement and covered by the collective agreement were entitled to carry over
accumulated sick leave balances.  The estimated gross value of the sick leave balances is
$257 thousand (2020 - $323 thousand).  Sick leave balances are non-vesting and further
accumulations are prohibited.  No amount has been accrued in the financial statements for
the potential liability.

9. Related party transactions

(a) The Province:

The Province is related to the Corporation by its ability to appoint 6 of 14 members of the
Corporation’s Board of Directors.

The Corporation entered into the Service Level Agreement with the Province for
management services to be provided on a cost recovery basis for an interim period. The
Service Level Agreement with the Province expired on 31 March 2017.  The Province
continues to provide limited administration services for the disbursement of pension
payments on an interim basis.  The cost of the services in 2021 was $0.08 million (2020
- $0.3 million) and is based on an allocation of salaries and administrative costs.

Management fees earned of $1 thousand in 2021 (2020 - $26 thousands) are from the 
Province of Newfoundland and Labrador.  

(b) The Plan:

The Corporation is related to the Plan as the Board of Directors oversees the Plan and
the Corporation. Management fees earned of $11.4 million (2020 - $10.3 million) are
from the Plan based on a cost recovery basis.

10. Economic dependence and financial risks

The Corporation is economically dependent on the Plan by virtue of the cost recovery basis
under which it operates.

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty may default on its contractual obligations
resulting in a financial loss.  The Corporation is exposed to a concentration of credit risk with
respect to the receivable from the Plan. The Corporation has assessed the amount as fully
collectible.

Provident10 continuously monitors the impact that the COVID-19 pandemic and geopolitical
risks have on the corporation and the Public Service Pension Plan.

The Corporation is not exposed to any other significant financial risks.
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11. Commitments

The Corporation is committed under the terms of its lease for office space to make the
following minimum annual lease payments (in thousands):

2022  $587 
2023  $587 
2024  $587 
2025  $587 
2026  $587 
Thereafter  $129 
Total $3,064 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 

To the Board of Trustees of the Public Service Pension Plan 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of Public Service Pension Plan (the Entity), 
which comprise: 

 the statement of financial position as at December 31, 2021

 the statement of changes in net assets available for benefits for the year then ended

 the statement of changes in accrued benefit obligation for the year then ended

 and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies

(Hereinafter referred to as the “financial statements”). 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, 
the financial position of the Entity as at December 31, 2021, and its changes in net assets 
available for benefits and its changes in accrued benefit obligation for the year then ended 
in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for pension plans. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing 
standards. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the “Auditors’ 
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements” section of our auditors’ report. 

We are independent of the Entity in accordance with the ethical requirements that are 
relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Canada and we have fulfilled our other 
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for our opinion. 

Other Information 

Management is responsible for the other information. Other information comprises: 

 the information, other than the financial statements and the auditors’ report thereon,
included in the Annual Report.
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Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not 
and will not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is 
materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit 
and remain alert for indications that the other information appears to be materially misstated. 

We obtained the information, other than the financial statements and the auditors’ report 
thereon, included in the Annual Report as at the date of this auditors’ report. If, based on the 
work we have performed on this other information, we conclude that there is a material 
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact in the auditors’ 
report. 

We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance 
for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for pension plans, and for 
such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable  the preparation of 
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Entity’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends 
to liquidate the Entity or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Entity’s financial 
reporting process. 

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements 
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud  or error, and to issue 
an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always 
detect a material misstatement when it exists. 

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in 
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of 
users taken on the basis of the financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we 
exercise professional judgment and maintain professional  skepticism throughout the audit. 
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We also: 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.

The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Entity's internal control.

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Entity's ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Entity to cease to continue
as a going concern.

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

 Communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

Chartered Professional Accountants 
St. John’s, Canada 
June 24, 2022 
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Public Service Pension Plan
Statement of Financial Position
31 December 2021
with comparative information for the year ended 31 December 2020

2021 2020

(000’s) (000’s)

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 202,742$  230,974$  

Accrued investment income 10,138 9,337 

Contributions receivable:

Employee 5,772 4,655 

Employer 5,772 4,656 

Harmonized Sales Tax receivable 559 498 

Receivable from Provident10 (note 13) - 87 

Receivable from pending trades 1,212 7,453 

Investments (note 4) 9,122,080 8,243,658 

Promissory note receivable (note 12) 2,364,447 2,411,911 

Total assets 11,712,722 10,913,229 

5,503 5,697 

595 7,716 

15,960 14,060 

337 - 

Liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 
Payable for pending trades

Refunds payable

Due to Provident10 (note 13d)

Due to Province of Newfoundland and Labrador 1,716 2,277 

24,111 29,750 

Net assets available for benefits 11,688,611 10,883,479 

Accrued benefit obligation (note 9) 10,708,746 10,772,666 

Commitments (note 14)

Surplus 979,865$  110,813$  

The accompanying notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this financial statement

On behalf of the Board of Trustees:  

Director  _________________________ Director  _________________________
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Public Service Pension Plan
Statement of Changes in Net Assets Available for Benefits
For the year ended 31 December 2021
with comparative information for the year ended 31 December 2020

2021 2020

(000’s) (000’s)

Increase in net assets:

Investment income (note 5a) 180,587$           172,999$           

Gain on sale of investments (note 5a) 380,763             270,458             

Current period change in market value of investments (note 5a) 439,461             484,731             

Interest on promissory note (note 12) 140,536             143,223             

1,141,347          1,071,411          

Contributions:  (note 10)

Employee 194,439             199,224             

Employer 170,043             167,776                                                               

364,482             367,000             

1,505,829          1,438,411          

Decrease in net assets:

Pension payments (note 11) (494,881)            (476,539)            

Refund of contributions (note 11) (171,567)            (147,624)            

Administrative expenses (note 8) (31,174)              (30,052)              

Harmonized Sales Tax (3,075) (2,950) 

(700,697)            (657,165)            

Increase in net assets available for benefits 805,132             781,246             

Net assets available for benefits, beginning of period 10,883,479        10,102,233        

Net assets available for benefits, end of period 11,688,611$      10,883,479$      

The accompanying notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this financial statement
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Public Service Pension Plan
Statement of Changes in Accrued Benefit Obligation
For the year ended 31 December 2021
with comparative information for the year ended 31 December 2020

2021 2020
(000’s) (000’s)

10,772,666$    9,908,679$     

Change in actuarial assumptions (note 9) (310,423)         614,852          
Interest accrued on benefits 619,948 584,603 
Experience gain (17,865)           - 
Benefits accrued 310,868 288,695 
Benefits paid (666,448) (624,163) 

10,708,746$    10,772,666$    

The accompanying notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this financial statement

Actuarial present value of accrued benefit 
obligation, beginning of period

Actuarial present value of accrued benefit 
obligation, end of period
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Public Service Pension Plan  
Notes to Financial Statements 
For the year ended 31 December 2021 

The Public Service Pension Plan (the “Plan”) was established on 1 April 1967 by the Public Service Pensions 
Act. Amendments to the legislation have been made over the years, including the introduction of the latest 
replacement Act, the Public Service Pensions Act, 2019 (the “Act”).  In 2014, an agreement was reached 
between the Province of Newfoundland and Labrador (the “Province”) and the five largest participating unions 
to reform the Plan.  This included benefit and contribution changes, the issuance of a $2.685 billion Promissory 
Note by the Province to the Plan, and introduced a jointly trusteed governance structure, which was formally 
recognized under the Joint Sponsorship Agreement.   

In accordance with the Joint Sponsorship Agreement, the Act established the Public Service Pension Plan 
Corporation (the “Corporation” or “Provident10”) as the Administrator of the Registered Plan and Trustee of the 
Public Service Pension Plan Fund (the “Fund”).  The Fund was created 31 March 2015 under the authority of 
the Act when the assets of the Plan were separated from the Newfoundland and Labrador Pooled Pension 
Fund.  The Corporation officially changed its name to Provident10 as of August 2017. 

Under the Joint Sponsorship Agreement, which contains a detailed Funding Policy, any future actuarial 
surpluses or deficits in the Plan funding will be shared equally between the Province and members of the Plan. 
In accordance with the Act, the participating Employers’ current funding requirement is to match employee 
contributions for current service.  Matching of contributions may also occur for certain other types of prior 
service, which may be purchased under contract.   

On 14 Feb 2020, Bill 56, which repealed and replaced the Public Service Pensions Act, 1991, was proclaimed 
and received royal assent.  Specifically, the Bill, an Act respecting a pension plan for employees of the 
Province and others, allowed for the following:   

o “…Continue the Public Service Pension Plan Corporation, the Public Service Pension Plan,
the Public Service Pension Plan Fund and the Public Service Supplementary Plan Account
(Supplementary Plan);

o prescribe government's obligations to the pension plan and supplementary account;

o prescribe the obligations of employers to the pension plan; and

o provide for Provident10 as the Administrator of the Public Service Pension Plan and the
Trustee of the Public Service Pension Plan Fund”.

1. Description of the Plan

(a) General:

The Plan is a contributory defined benefit pension plan covering full-time employees of the, the
Legislature, various Crown corporations, agencies and commissions created by or under a statute of
the Province, and Provident10.

The Plan is comprised of two components, a Registered Plan (registration number 0525360), which
provides registered pension benefits allowable under the Income Tax Act (Canada) (“Income Tax Act”),
and a Supplementary Plan, which provides benefits in excess of the Income Tax Act maximum benefit
limits.  Provident10 oversees the Registered Plan, and these financial statements include only amounts
that pertain to the Registered Plan.  Amounts that pertain to the Supplementary Plan are included
within the accounts of the Consolidated Revenue Fund of the Province.

The Plan is not subject to income tax, but is subject to indirect taxes including the Harmonized Sales
Tax.
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1. Description of the Plan (continued)

(b) Contributions:

As of 1 January 2015, employee contributions are equal to 10.75% of the Canada Pension Plan (the 
“CPP”) basic exemption, plus 8.95% of the employee’s salary between the CPP basic exemption and 
the Year’s Maximum Pensionable Earnings (the “YMPE”) under the CPP, plus 11.85% of the 
employee’s salary in excess of the YMPE, up to the maximum allowed under the Income Tax Act. 
Amounts in excess of the maximum allowed are paid to the Supplementary Plan.  Employers make 
matching contributions for current service.

(c) Pension amounts:

A pension is available from the Registered Plan based on the number of years of pensionable service 
times 2% of the member’s highest average earnings. When a retired member reaches age 65, this 
pension is reduced by 0.6% of the member’s highest average earnings up to the three-year average 
YMPE times years of pensionable service after 1 April 1967. The offset at age 65 is limited to a 
maximum of 35 years of service.

For the period from 1 April 1993 to 31 March 1996, certain participating employers were temporarily 
allowed to reduce their contributions to the Plan.  In those cases, the accrual rate used to determine a 
member’s pension is reduced proportionately from the standard 2% per year of service.
The highest average earnings in respect of service for years earned up to 31 December 2014 is the 
greater of:

i. the average of the member’s pensionable earnings during any of the five calendar years, prior 
to 31 December 2014, which yield the highest average; and

ii. the average of the member’s pensionable earnings during any of the six 12-month periods, 
prior to the date the member’s participation ceases, which yield the highest average. 

For service earned after 31 December 2014, the highest average earnings is the average of a 
member’s pensionable earnings during any of the six 12-month periods, prior to the date the 
member’s participation ceases, which yield the highest average.   

For seasonal employees, the averaging periods used in the determination of the highest average 
earnings are limited to either the five-year period prior to 31 December 2014 or the six-year period 
immediately prior to the date the member’s participation ceases. 

The pension payable from the Registered Plan shall not exceed the maximum allowable benefit as 
determined under the Income Tax Act.  Where the calculated amount exceeds the maximum allowable 
benefit as determined under the Income Tax Act, a member will receive a pension from the 
Supplementary Plan. The total pension received from both the Registered Plan and the 
Supplementary Plan equals the amount calculated based on the number of years of pensionable 
service times 2% of the member’s highest average earnings, subject to the previously noted reduction 
at age 65 and any reductions in the accrual rate applicable during the period from 1 April 1993 to 31 
March 1996. 

(d) Retirement dates:

Employees who met the early unreduced retirement provisions that existed prior to 1 January 2015 by
31 December 2019 or who had at least 30 years of service by 31 December 2019 were grandparented
under the early retirement rules that existed prior to 1 January 2015. In this case, employees can retire
with an unreduced pension at age 55 if they have at least 30 years of service, or at age 60 if they have
at least five years of service.
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1. Description of the Plan (continued)

(d) Retirement dates (continued):

Following 31 December 2019, employees are eligible to retire with an unreduced pension at age 58 if
they have at least 30 years of service, age 60 if they have at least 10 years of service, or at age 
65 if they have at least five years of service.   

Employees can also retire with a reduced pension in certain circumstances.  During the period 
to 31 December 2019, employees who were age 50 with at least 30 years of service or who were 
age 55 and whose age plus service total at least 85 could have retired with a reduction of 0.5% 
for each month prior to age 55 or 60, respectively.  After 31 December 2019, employees who are 
age 53 with at least 30 years of service or who are age 58 and whose age plus service total 
at least 88 may retire with a reduction of 0.5% for each month prior to age 58 or 60, respectively.  
In any case, an employee who has reached age 55 with at least five years of service may retire 
with an actuarially reduced pension. 

(e) Disability Pensions:

A disability pension equal to the accrued pension is available on permanent incapacity at any age,
provided the member has a minimum of five years pensionable service.

(f) Survivor pensions:

A survivor pension of 60% of the member’s accrued pension is paid to the surviving principal
beneficiary (and on the surviving principal beneficiary’s death, to dependent children) following the
death of a pensioner, a deferred pensioner or an employee with at least five years pensionable
service.

(g) Pre-retirement death benefits:

Where an employee with at least five years pensionable service dies before receiving a pension and a
survivor benefit is payable, the surviving principal beneficiary may elect to receive either the survivor
benefit, or the greater of the commuted value of the survivor benefit and the commuted value of the
employee’s pension entitlement.

Where an employee with at least five years pensionable service dies before receiving a pension and
there is no surviving principal beneficiary, the commuted value of the employee’s pension entitlement
is paid to the employee’s estate.

(h) Termination benefits:

On termination of employment, an employee may elect to receive a refund of the employee’s own
contributions with interest if they have less than five years of pensionable service.  If an employee has
at least five years pensionable service, the employee may elect to receive either a deferred pension or
commuted value transfer.

(i) Indexing:

 For persons in receipt of a pension or a survivor benefit as at 31 December 2014, each 1 October, the
amount of a pension or survivor benefit paid to an individual who has reached the age of 65 will be
adjusted by 60% of the Consumer Price Index for Canada for the previous calendar year (as published
by Statistics Canada), to a maximum of 1.2% of the annual pension or survivor benefit.  For all others,
pensions in respect of service that was earned up to 31 December 2014 will continue to be indexed in
the same manner, but no guaranteed post-retirement indexing will be provided in respect of service
credited in the Plan after 31 December 2014.
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2. Basis of preparation

(a) Basis of presentation:

The financial statements are prepared in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for pension
plans in Part IV of the Chartered Professional Accountants (CPA) Canada Handbook.

In selecting or changing accounting policies that do not relate to its investment portfolio or accrued
benefit obligation, Canadian accounting standards for pension plans require the Plan to comply on a
consistent basis with either International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) in Part I of the CPA
Canada Handbook, or Accounting Standards for Private Enterprises (“ASPE”) in Part II of the
Handbook. The Plan has chosen to comply on a consistent basis with IFRS.

(b) Functional and presentation currency:

The financial statements are presented in thousands of Canadian dollars unless otherwise noted.
Canadian dollars is the Plan’s functional currency.

(c) Use of estimates and judgments:

The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses
during the year. Significant items subject to such estimates and assumptions include the valuation and
classification of investments, as well as assumptions used in the calculation of accrued benefit
obligation.  Actual results could differ from these estimates and the impact of any such differences will
be recorded in future periods.

3. Significant accounting policies

(a) Financial assets and liabilities:

i. Recognition and initial measurement

Financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss (“FVTPL”) are
recognized in the statement of financial position on the trade date, which is the date on which the
Plan becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities at FVTPL are initially measured at fair value, with
transaction costs recognized in profit or loss.

ii. Classification

Financial assets are required to be classified as measured at amortized cost, fair value through
other comprehensive income or FVTPL according to the business model used for managing them
and their contractual cash flow characteristics. Financial liabilities are classified as measured
through amortized cost unless they are measured at FVTPL.

The Plan makes an assessment of the objective of a business model because this best reflects the
way the business is managed and information is provided. Investments are managed, and their
performance is evaluated on a fair value basis. As such, the Plan classifies all investments and
derivative assets as FVTPL with changes in fair value being recognized in net investment income in
the statement of changes in net assets available for benefits.
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial assets at amortized cost include cash and cash equivalents, accrued investment income, 
contributions receivable, receivable from pending trades, Harmonized Sales Tax receivable, 
receivable from Provident10, receivable from pending trades and Promissory note receivable. 
Financial liabilities at amortized cost include accounts payable and accrued liabilities, payable for 
pending trades, refunds payable, due to Provident10 and due to the Province of Newfoundland and 
Labrador 

iii. De-recognition

The Plan de-recognizes a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset 
expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction in which 
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred or in which 
the Plan neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and does 
not retain control of the financial asset. 

On de-recognition of a financial asset, the difference between the carrying amount of the asset and 
consideration received is recognized in the statement of changes in net assets available for benefits 
as a net realized gain (loss) on sale of investments. 

The Plan de-recognizes a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged, cancelled 
or expired. 

The Plan considers all liabilities, except for derivative contracts payable, to be non-derivative financial 
liabilities 

iv. Derivative financial instruments:

Derivative financial instruments are recognized initially at fair value and attributable transaction costs
are recognized in the statement of changes in net assets available for benefits as incurred.
Subsequent to initial recognition, derivatives are measured at fair value, and all changes are
recognized immediately in the statement of changes in net assets available for benefits.

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of net assets
available for benefits when, and only when, the Plan has a legal right to offset the amounts and it
intends either to settle on a net basis or to realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

(b) Fair value measurement:

As allowed under IFRS 13, if an asset or a liability measured at fair value has a bid and an ask price, 
the price within the bid-ask spread that is the most representative of fair value in the circumstances 
shall be used to measure fair value.

When available, the Plan measures the fair value of an instrument using quoted prices in an active 
market for that instrument. A market is regarded as active if quoted prices are readily and regularly 
available and represent actual and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s-length basis.

If a market for a financial instrument is not active, then the Plan establishes fair value using a valuation 
technique. Valuation techniques include using recent arm’s-length transactions between 
knowledgeable, willing parties (if available); reference to the current fair value of other instruments that 
are substantially the same; and discounted cash flow analyses.

All changes in fair value, other than interest and dividend income, and expense, are recognized in the 
statement of changes in net assets available for benefits as part of the change in market value of 
investments.
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(b) Fair value measurement (continued):

Fair values of investments are determined as follows:

Short-term notes, treasury bills and term deposits maturing within a year, and cash held by investment
managers are stated at cost, which together with accrued interest income approximates fair value given
the short-term nature of these investments.

Bonds and debentures are valued at the closing mid-price at the valuation date.

Publicly traded equities are valued at year-end quoted closing prices where available. Where quoted
prices are not available on the valuation date, estimated fair values are calculated using the last trade
date.

The Plan investments in real estate are held by its wholly-owned subsidiary, Newvest Realty
Corporation (“Newvest”). All real properties have been subject to valuations by qualified independent
property appraisers using market-based assumptions in accordance with recognized valuation
techniques. The valuation techniques used include the direct capitalized net operation income method
and the discounted cash flow method unless the property was acquired in the year and only then would
the cost be applied as the fair value. Recent real estate transactions with similar characteristics and
location to the assets are also considered. The direct capitalization income method applies a
capitalization rate of property’s stabilized net operating income which incorporates allowances for
vacancy, management fees and structural reserves for capital expenditures for the property.

Private equity, private infrastructure, private debt and hedge fund investments are held through
ownership in limited partnership arrangements.  Fair value is determined by the general partner, using
the most recent financial information obtained from the underlying investments and/or forecasts of
future financial performance and then applying appropriate valuation techniques such as market
comparables and/or discounted cash flows.

Pooled funds are valued at the unit values supplied by the pooled fund administrator which represent
the Plan’s proportionate share of underlying net assets at fair values.

Investments in derivative financial instruments, including futures, forwards and option contracts, are
valued at year-end quoted market prices where available. Where quoted prices are not available, values
are determined using pricing models, which take into account current market and contractual prices of
the underlying instruments, as well as time value and yield curve or volatility factors underlying the
positions. Unrealized gains and losses on derivative financial instruments, net of premiums paid or
received on options contracts, are included in derivative contracts investments. The Plan holds private
investments, such as non-traded pooled or closed funds, limited partnership interests, private
placement bonds or equity investments. Private investment fund valuations are initially provided by the
external fund managers, usually on a three-month lagging basis. Such valuations are then adjusted to
reflect cash contributions and cash distributions between the valuation date and the reporting date,
including marking to market any publicly-traded securities held by the underlying private investment.

(c) Investment Income

Investment income is recorded on an accrual basis and includes interest income, dividends and other
income.
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued)

Dividend income is recognized as of the date of record. 

The net realized gain (loss) on sale of investments is the difference between proceeds received and 
the average cost of investments sold. 

(d) Foreign currency translation:

Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are translated into Canadian dollars at the rates of
exchange prevailing on the dates of the transactions.  Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies at the reporting date are retranslated into Canadian dollars at the exchange rate at
that date.

Foreign currency differences arising on retranslation are recognized in the statement of changes in net
assets available for benefits as a change in the market value of the investments.

(e) Contributions:

Contributions from employers and members due to the Plan at the end of the year are recorded on an
accrual basis.  Service purchases that include, but are not limited to leaves of absence, periods of
reduced accrual and transfer from other pension plans are recorded and service is credited when the
signed contract to purchase is received.

(f) Benefits:

Benefit payments to retired members are recorded as they are due and paid, twice monthly.
Commuted value payments and transfers to other pension plans are recorded when paid.  Other
refunds are recorded when authorized.  Accrued benefits for members are recorded as part of the
accrued pension obligation.

(g) Receivable/payable for pending trades:

For securities transactions, the fair value of receivable from pending trades and payable for pending
trades approximate their carrying amounts due to their short-term nature.

(h) Administrative expenses:

Administrative expenses are incurred for direct pension administration and external investment
management and are recorded on an accrual basis.  Direct pension administration expenses
represent expenses to provide direct services to Plan members and employers and include actuarial
consulting, disability pension adjudication and professional fees. External investment management
expenses represent payments to the investment managers.  The administrative expenses include
charges from the Corporation as well as charges from the Province under a service level agreement
between the Corporation and the Province.  Under the service level agreement, charges from the
Province are allocated to the pension plans it administers on a pro-rata basis.  An allocation of
salaries, overhead and administrative expenses is charged on a cost recovery basis.

(i) Cash and cash equivalents:

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, balances with banks and investment managers,
and highly liquid financial assets with maturities of three months or less that are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in their fair value and are used by the Plan in the management of short-
term commitments.
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4. Investments

(a) Investment portfolio:

The fair value of investments relative to the cost is summarized in the following table:

31 December 2021 31 December 2020 

Assets % Cost Assets % Cost

Fixed income 

Equities 
    Canadian 
    Global  
    Private 

Real assets 
    Private infrastructure 
    Listed infrastructure 
    Real estate 

Absolute return 
    Hedge funds 

Forwards 

(000’s) 

2,970,477 

1,039,451 
2,896,491 

577,818 

646,505 
310,781 
430,006 

250,551 

- 

32.6 

11.4 
31.8 
 6.3 

7.1 
3.4 
4.7 

  2.7 

- 

(000’s) 

2,880,179 

832,068 
2,134,477 

266,878 

453,429 
314,187 

   282,286 

251,600 

- 

(000’s) 

2,861,618 

866,063 
2,822,870 

461,747 

451,213 
406,640 
373,509 

- 

(2) 

34.7 

10.5 
34.3 
 5.6 

5.5 
4.9 

  4.5 

- 

- 

(000’s) 

2,652,591 

735,936 
2,169,149 

315,992 

373,448 
450,718 
277,906 

- 

- 

Total $9,122,080 100.0 $7,415,104 $8,243,658 100.0 $6,975,740 

(b) Fair value measurement:

Financial instruments are classified according to the following fair value hierarchy that reflects the
significance of inputs used in determining the fair values.

• Level 1 - unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
• Level 2 - inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or

liability, either directly or indirectly. 
 Level 3 - inputs for assets and liabilities that are not based on observable market data.
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4. Investments (continued)

(b) Fair value measurement (continued):

Investments based on the valuation level within the fair value hierarchy are as follows:

As at 31 December 2021 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
(000’s) (000’s) (000’s) (000’s)

Fixed income - 2,934,084 36,393  2,970,477 

Equities 
Canadian 1,002,578 36,873 -  1,039,451
Global 2,894,750 1,741 - 2,896,491

   Private  - - 577,818 577,818

Real assets 
 Private infrastructure - - 646,505 646,505 
 Listed infrastructure - 310,781 - 310,781

    Real estate - -  430,006 430,006

Absolute return 
    Hedge funds - - 250,551 250,511 

$ 3,897,328 $ 3,283,479 $ 1,941,273 $ 9,122,080 

As at 31 December 2020 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
(000’s) (000’s) (000’s) (000’s)

Fixed income - 2,861,618 - 2,861,618

Equities 
Canadian 837,225 28,838 -  866,063
Global 2,821,227 1,643 -  2,822,870

   Private   - - 461,747 461,747 

Real Assets 
 Private infrastructure - - 451,213 451,213 
 Listed infrastructure - 406,640 - 406,640

    Real estate - -  373,509 373,509

Forwards (2) - - (2)

$ 3,658,450 $ 3,298,739 $ 1,286,469 $ 8,243,658 

There have been no transfers between levels in any of the periods presented. 
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4. Investments (continued)

(b) Fair value measurement (continued):

The following table reconciles the Plan’s level 3 fair value measurements from period to period:

(000’s)

Fair value, 31 December 2019 $  1,022,488 
Acquisitions  174,686
Dispositions  (21,375)
Realized loss  (18,523)
Change in unrealized loss on assets sold (9,856) 
Change in unrealized gain on assets held 139,049 
Fair value, 31 December 2020 $ 1,286,469 

Fair value, 31 December 2020 $  1,286,469 
Acquisitions  388,130
Dispositions  (103,817)
Realized gain 37,634
Change in unrealized loss on assets sold (22,597) 
Change in unrealized gain on assets held 355,454  
Fair value, 31 December 2021 $ 1,941,273 

Level 3 financial instruments are valued using various methods.  The fair value of private equity, 
private infrastructure, private debt and hedge fund holdings is determined by the general partners 
using the most recent financial information obtained from the underlying investments and/or forecasts 
of future financial performance and then applying appropriate valuation techniques such as recent 
arms’s length market transactions, earnings multiples of comparable publicly traded companies and/or 
discounted cash flows.  Given the limited availability to other unobservable inputs, no other reasonably 
possible alternative assumptions could be applied to determine the fair value.   

Real estate holdings are valued based on discounted cash flow analysis and direct capitalization 
income.  The following analysis illustrates the sensitivity of the Level 3 valuations to reasonably 
possible capitalization rate assumptions for real estate properties where reasonable possible 
alternative assumptions would change the fair value significantly.   

 2021 2020
(000’s) (000’s)

Real estate 

Minimum capitalization rate       3.73%   3.75% 
Maximum capitalization rate  10.32%   9.25% 
Increase of 25 basis points   $(25,748) $(22,244) 
Decrease of 25 basis points  $ 28,664        $ 24,610 
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4. Investments  (continued)

(c) Derivatives:

Derivatives are financial contracts, the value of which is derived from the value of underlying assets or
interest or exchange rates.  Derivatives provide flexibility in implementing investment strategies.  The
Plan uses such contracts to enhance investment returns and for managing exposure to foreign
currency volatility.

Notional amounts of derivative contracts are the contract amounts used to calculate the cash flow to
be exchanged. They represent the contractual amounts to which a rate or price is applied for
computing the cash to be paid or received.  Notional amounts are the basis on which the returns from
and fair value of the contracts are determined.  They are not recorded as financial assets or liabilities
on the statement of financial position and change in net assets available for benefits.  They are a
common measure of volume of outstanding transactions but do not represent credit or market risk
exposure. The aggregate notional amounts and fair value of derivative contracts can fluctuate
significantly.

Derivative contracts transacted on either regulated exchange market or in the over the counter market
directly between two counterparts include the following:

(i) Currency forwards:

Currency forwards are contractual obligations to exchange one currency for another at a specified
price or settlement at a predetermined future date.  Forward contracts are used to manage the
currency exposure of investments held in foreign currencies.  The notional amount of a currency
forward represents the contracted amount purchased or sold for settlement at a future date.  The
fair value is determined by the difference between the market value and the notional value upon
settlement.

The following table sets out the notional values of the Plan’s derivatives and their related assets
and liabilities at 31 December:

Notional  Fair value Fair value Fair value 
amount asset liability net 
(000’s) (000’s) (000’s) (000’s)

31 December 2021 
Currency forwards $ (239) $ (2) $ 2 $ - 

31 December 2020 
Currency forwards 1,620 (4) 2 (2) 

(ii) Futures:

Futures are transacted in standard amounts on regulated exchanges and are subject to daily
cash management.

Futures contracts are specifically used for reducing the cash exposure in the operating accounts.
This is accomplished by converting cash exposure to capital markets exposure in accordance
with the Plan’s long-term asset mix.
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4. Investments  (continued)

(d) Securities lending:

The Plan participates in a securities lending program whereby it lends securities to enhance portfolio
returns.  The securities lending program requires collateral in cash, high-quality debt instruments, or
securities. Collateral transactions are conducted under terms that are usual and customary in standard
securities lending programs.  In the absence of an event of default, the same securities or equivalent
securities must be returned to the counterparty at the end of the contract.

The fair values of the allocated securities and collateral associated with the securities lending program
as at 31 December are as follows:

2021 2020
(000’s) (000’s)

Securities lent  $ 639,241 $ 720,543
Securities contractually receivable 675,545 755,431 

5. Investment income

(a) Investment income is as follows:

2021 2020
(000’s) (000’s)

Dividend income  $ 94,306 $ 84,872
Interest income  85,069  85,999
Security lending income 1,035 2,073 
Commission recapture income 177 55 

   180,587          $ 172,999 

Gain on sale of investments  380,763 270,458 
Current period change in market value of investments 439,461 484,731 

 $ 1,000,811 $ 928,188
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5. Investment income (continued)

(b) Investment income (loss) by asset mix for the period ended 31 December is as follows:

Investment 
Income 

Gain (loss) 
on sale of 
investments 

Current period 
change in 
market value 
of investments 

2021 
Total 

2020 
Total 

(000’s) (000’s) (000’s) (000’s) (000’s) 

Cash and cash equivalents    $    4,939    $   (244) $   403   $     5,098   $     3,370  
Fixed income    78,252    13,224     (118,729)   (27,253)   253,675  

Equities     76,638      367,448    350,734   794,820    668,421  

Real assets   20,758   335   208,100    229,193   3,233  

Absolute return  -   -     (1,049)      (1,049)     - 

Forwards  -   -    2   2    (511) 

Total  $ 180,587  $ 380,763  $ 439,461  $1,000,811  $ 928,188 

Net loss from derivatives, including realized and unrealized gains or losses is $nil (2020 - net loss $0.5 
million), while income from other assets, excluding dividend and interest income is $5.1 million (2020 - 
$3.3 million).   

6. Investment risk management

Risk management relates to the understanding and active management of risks associated with all areas
of the business and the associated operating environment.  The use of financial instruments exposes the
Plan to interest rate risk, market price risk, credit risk, foreign currency risk and liquidity risk. The Plan’s
Statement of Investment Policies and Procedures (SIP&P) outlines policies and operating procedures that
establish a diversified asset mix consisting of investments in equity, fixed income, real estate,
infrastructure and private equity.  The asset mix policy requires diversification of investments within these
categories and sets limits on the size of exposure to individual investment and counterparties.  Board of
Trustee oversight, procedures, and compliance functions are incorporated into Plan processes to achieve
consistent controls and mitigate operational risk.

(a) Interest rate risk:

Interest rate risk refers to the fact that the Plan’s financial position will change with market interest rate
changes, as fixed income securities are sensitive to changes in nominal interest rates. Interest rate
risk is inherent in the management of a pension plan due to prolonged timing differences between
cash flows related to the Plan’s assets and cash flows related to the Plan’s liabilities.

The fair value of the Plan is affected by short term changes in nominal interest rates. Pension liabilities
are exposed to the long-term expectation of rate of return on the investments, as well as expectations
of inflation and salary escalation.
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6. Investment risk management (continued)

The term to maturity classifications of public market interest-bearing investments, based upon the 
contractual maturity of these securities, are as follows: 

 2021 2020
(%) (%) 

Within 1 year 6.5  8.0 
Short (1 - 5 years) 27.1 25.6 
Medium (5 - 10 years) 32.0 28.3 
Long (10 + years) 34.4 38.1 

100.0  100.0 

Assuming a parallel change in the long and short-term yields, a 1% increase in interest rates would 
have the effect of decreasing the fair value of the Plan’s fixed income investments by approximately 
$201.5 million or 8.08% (2020 - $198.5 million or 8.13%).  A 1% decrease in interest rates would have 
resulted in an equal but opposite effect to the amounts shown.     

(b) Market price risk:

Market price risk is the risk of fluctuation in market values of investments from influences specific to a
particular investment or from influences on the market as a whole.  The Plan is exposed to changes in
equity prices in Canadian and global markets.  Equities comprise 46.9% of the market value of the
Plan’s total investments.  Equity investments are diversified by geography, industry type and corporate
entity.  If equity market indices (S&P/TSX and MSCI ACWI) declined by 10%, and all other variables
are held constant, the potential loss to the Plan would be approximately $424.6 million, or 4.70% of
total investment assets (2020 - $409.6 million or 4.99%).

(c) Credit risk:

Credit risk is the risk that the issuer of a debt security or counterparty to a contract is unable to fulfill its
financial obligation and causes the other party to incur a loss.

Fixed Income portfolio:

Credit risk in the fixed income portfolio is monitored by evaluating the Plan’s exposure in two ways: by
sector (government versus corporate) and by credit quality.

The Plan is exposed to credit risk from the following interest earning investments, classified by sector
as follows:

 2021 2020
(%) (%) 

Federal government 21.3  15.6 
Provincial government 24.8  26.1 
Municipal government 1.2 1.9 
Corporate  49.8 53.3
Other  2.9 3.1

100.0  100.0 
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The Plan’s concentration risk by credit rating as at 31 December is as follows: 

 2021 2020
(%) (%) 

AAA to A- 56.3  61.5 
BBB to BBB- 24.8  22.7 
BB+ and below 11.7 8.3 
Not rated 7.2 7.5 
Total 100.0  100.0 

Real estate: 

Real estate investment managers manage risk through monthly monitoring of tenant performance and 
arrears.  Tenant exposure is managed by limiting concentration to a specific economic sector and 
geographic area.  Transactions that involve assuming a new tenant exposure are vetted by an 
appropriate due diligence and approval process. 

Securities lending: 

The Plan lends securities for a fee to approved borrowers.  High quality collateral is provided by 
borrowers to alleviate the credit risk.  Regular reporting of the securities lending program ensure that 
its various components are continuously being monitored. 

(d) Foreign currency risk:

Foreign currency exposure arises through holdings of securities and other investments in non-
Canadian assets.  Fluctuations in the relative value of the Canadian dollar against these foreign
currencies can result in a positive or a negative effect on the fair value of the investments.  The Plan’s
exposure to foreign currencies provides diversification benefits that should be assessed by asset
class. Foreign currency positions arising from investments in fixed income, real estate or infrastructure
are generally hedged, while investments in global public and private equity generally are not hedged.
In addition, the investment managers of the Plan are given flexibility through their mandate to
periodically hedge currency for opportunistic or defensive purposes.

The Plan’s currency exposure from public market investment assets is summarized in the following
table:

 2021 2020
(%) (%) 

Canadian Dollar 42.6  44.8 
US Dollar 39.7  36.4 
Euro  5.0 5.3
Other Asia / Pacific currencies 4.4 4.8 
British Pound 2.3 2.5 
Other European currencies 2.2 2.2 
Other currencies * 2.0 1.4 
Japanese Yen 1.8 2.6 
Total 100.0  100.0 

* Other currencies include those from regions within Africa, the Middle East and Latin America
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A 10% increase in the value of the Canadian dollar in relation to all other foreign currencies, with all 
other variables held constant, would result in an unrealized investment loss of $392.2 million, or 5.74% 
of public market investment assets (2020 - $370.3 million or 5.52%).  A reduction in the value of the 
Canadian dollar of the same amount in relation to all other foreign currencies would result in an equal 
but opposite effect to the amounts shown.   

(e) Liquidity risk:

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Plan is unable to meet its financial obligations as they come due.
Cash obligations are fulfilled from contributions to the Plan, cash income of the Plan and planned
dispositions of Plan assets as required.  Cash requirements of the Plan are reviewed on an ongoing
basis to provide for the orderly availability of resources to meet the financial obligations.  In general,
the Plan’s investments in cash and cash equivalents, debt and public equities are expected to be
highly liquid and are invested in securities that are actively traded. Investments in private equity,
infrastructure and real estate are considered highly illiquid due to their private nature and longer term
to maturity.

(f) COVID-19 impact and geopolitical risks:

With the outbreak of the novel strain of the coronavirus (“COVID -19”), there has been significant
volatility in equity prices, interest rates, bond yields and foreign exchange rates.  The geopolitical risks
currently being experienced create further uncertainty and volatility.

7. Capital management

The capital of the Plan is defined as the net assets available for benefits.  The Plan was established as a
vehicle to invest employee and employer pension plan contributions with a long-term goal to achieve
investment returns.  The primary investment objective of the Plan is to meet its long-term funding
requirements and pension payment obligations, and the secondary objective is to manage the volatility of
the Plan’s funded ratio.

The Plan is jointly sponsored by the Province and the five unions representing plan members.  The
Corporation’s Board of Trustees, as Trustee of the Plan, is responsible to review, monitor, administer and
supervise all investment activities of the Plan.

Portfolio management:

The Plan utilizes external investment management firms to invest the assets of the Plan.  Each investment
manager is selected through a disciplined process to ensure alignment with the investment structure and
objectives of the Plan.  In addition, external custodial and investment counseling advisory firms are
engaged to support Plan management.
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7. Capital management (continued)

Asset mix policy:

The long-term asset mix policy of the Plan, approved in January 2019, is as follows:

Equities:
Canadian Equity 10% 
Global Equities 10% 
Global Low Volatility 10% 
Global Small Cap   5% 
Emerging Markets   5% 
Private Equity    5% 

Fixed Income: 
 Canadian Core-Plus Bonds 15% 

Commercial Mortgages    5% 
Emerging Market Debt    5% 
Multi Asset Credit   5% 

 Private Debt   5% 

Real Assets: 
Real Estate 7.5% 
Global Infrastructure 7.5% 

Absolute Return: 
 Hedge Funds 5% 

The asset mix policy was adopted after evaluating the potential impact of alternative policies on the ability 
to achieve sufficient asset growth on a risk-controlled basis.  Factors evaluated before adopting the asset 
mix policy included the Plan’s going-concern funded ratio, demographics, cash-flow requirements, 
actuarial assumptions, prospective benefit improvements and liquidity requirements.   

8. Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses include direct expenses incurred by the Plan, and administrative costs incurred
by the Corporation and billed to the Plan.  Administrative expenses were as follows:

 2021 2020
 (000’s) (000’s)

Direct expenses: 
Investment management fees $ 18,264 $ 18,211 
Custodian and transaction fees 836 871 
Actuarial consulting fees 355 362 
Investment consulting fees 153 169 
Other direct expenses 139 167 

 19,747  19,780

Charges from Plan Administrator, Provident10 (note 13d) 11,427 10,272 
  $ 31,174 $ 30,052
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9. Accrued benefit obligation

The actuarial present value of the accrued benefit obligation is an estimate of the value of Plan benefits
accrued to date for all active and inactive members including pensioners and survivors. As the experience
of the Plan unfolds, and as underlying conditions change over time, the measured value of these benefits
may change materially.

The Plan uses the triennial actuarial funding valuation as the basis for measuring the accrued benefit
obligation, using various economic and demographic assumptions and based on membership data as at
the valuation date.  Extrapolations of the Plan’s funding valuation are conducted annually to estimate the
accrued benefit obligation.  The most recent funding valuation was conducted as at 31 December 2021.

The actuarial valuation calculates liabilities for each member on the basis of service earned to date and
the employee’s projected highest average salary at the expected date of retirement, or on the pension in
pay, for retired members and survivors.

Salaries are assumed to increase over the long-term based on an assumed real rate increase (i.e. to
increase in excess of the assumed inflation rate).

Demographic assumptions are used to estimate when future benefits are payable to members and
beneficiaries, including assumptions about mortality rates, termination rates, and patterns of early
retirement.  Each of these assumptions is updated periodically, based on a review of the experience of the
Plan and on the expectations of future trends.

Two major demographic assumptions have been updated for the 2021 valuation. The active member
termination rates have been updated, following on a review of recent experience.  The mortality rates have
also been changed, with updates to the size adjustment factors applied under the CPM tables for males
and females reflecting the socio-economic profile of the membership. The only 2021 economic assumption
change includes an increase in the discount rate to 6% from 5.85%.  The remaining economic
assumptions are unchanged .
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9. Accrued benefit obligation (continued)

As of
31 December 2021 

As of  
31 December 2020 

Inflation 2.00% per annum 2.00% per annum 
Post-retirement indexing 
(payable from age 65) 

1.00% per annum 1.00% per annum 

Salary escalation 3.50% per annum 3.50% per annum 
Total rate of return on assets  

(i.e. Discount Rate) 
6.00% per annum 5.85% per annum 

YMPE escalation (as defined 
under the Canada Pension Plan) 

2.75% per annum 2.75% per annum 

Retirement rates For members who are 
grandparented or who qualify for 
early unreduced retirement by  
31 December 2019: 
 50% at earliest age they are

entitled to unreduced pension.
 The remainder at their normal

retirement age (the earlier of 65
or 55 with 35 years of service).

For all other members: 
 57.5% at the earliest age they

are entitled to unreduced
pension.

 The remainder at normal
retirement age (the earlier of 65
or age 58 with 35 years of
service).

Members who have already 
reached early unreduced retirement 
age are assumed to retire at their 
normal retirement age. 

For members who are 
grandparented or who qualify for 
early unreduced retirement by  
31 December 2019: 
 50% at earliest age they are

entitled to unreduced pension.
 The remainder at their normal

retirement age (the earlier of 65
or 55 with 35 years of service).

For all other members: 
 57.5% at the earliest age they

are entitled to unreduced
pension.

 The remainder at normal
retirement age (the earlier of 65
or age 58 with 35 years of
service).

Members who have already 
reached early unreduced retirement 
age are assumed to retire at their 
normal retirement age.  

Termination rates Age  
25  
30  
35  
40  
45  
50  
55  
60 

Percentage  
6.03% 
4.12% 
2.81% 
1.92% 
1.31% 
2.12% 
3.11% 

Nil 
 

Age  
25  
30  
35  
40  
45  
50  
55  
60  

Percentage  
6.24% 
4.24% 
3.12% 
1.92% 
1.33% 
1.98% 
2.83% 

Nil 
 

Termination form of payment To age 49: 35% lump-sum; 65% 
deferred pension  

Age 50-59: 80% lump-sum; 20% 
deferred pension  

To age 49: 35% lump-sum; 65% 
deferred pension  

Age 50-59: 80% lump-sum; 20% 
deferred pension  

Mortality rates CPM RPP 2014 Public (Sex 
Distinct)  
CPM Improvement Scale B 
Size adjustment factors of 1.21 for 
males and 1.06 for females 

CPM RPP 2014 Public (Sex 
Distinct)  
CPM Improvement Scale B 
Size adjustment factors of 1.08 for 
males and 1.01 for females 
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10. Contributions

2021 2020
(000’s) (000’s)

Employee: 
Current service   $ 168,610 $ 165,502
Past service  5,387  5,920
Reciprocal transfers 20,442 27,802 

  $ 194,439 $ 199,224

2021 2020
(000’s) (000’s)

Employer: 
Current service   $ 168,509 $ 165,516
Past service  1,534  2,260

  $ 170,043 $ 167,776

11. Pension payments

2021 2020
(000’s) (000’s)

Retirement benefit payments  $ 464,364 $ 446,477 
Disability benefit payments 30,517 30,062 

 $ 494,881 $ 476,539

Refund of contributions 

2021 2020
(000’s) (000’s)

Termination benefit payments   $ 155,530 $ 136,442 
Transfers to other pension funds  8,764  5,312
Death benefit payments   7,273 5,870 

 $ 171,567 $ 147,624

12. Promissory note

The Province issued a $2.685 billion promissory note to the Corporation on 31 March 2015 as part
of pension reform. The Plan has a right to receive the proceeds of the promissory note from the
Province held by the corporate trustee. The note is receivable over 30 years in quarterly blended
installments of principal and interest of $47 million. The promissory note bears interest of 6%. The
payments will be made, regardless of the funded status of the Plan. The promissory note is non-
marketable. As at 31 December 2021, the balance receivable is $2.364 billion (2020 - $2.412 billion).

Principal repayments of the promissory note by the Province to the Corporation and by the Corporation
to the Plan over the next five years (in thousands) are on the following page:
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2022  $50,312 
2023  $53,331 
2024  $56,530 
2025  $59,922 
2026  $63,518 

13. Related party transactions

(a) Fixed income investments:

The following related party investments were held by the Plan as at 31 December:  

2021 2020 
Description Cost Market Value Cost Market Value 

(000’s) (000’s) (000’s) (000’s)

Province of Newfoundland and 
Labrador Debentures - Series 
maturing 2 June 2028 $ 2,882 $ 2,882 $ 3,950 $ 3,950 

Province of Newfoundland and 
Labrador Debentures - Series 6X 
maturing 17 October 2046 1,779 2,041 1,964 2,422 

Province of Newfoundland and 
Labrador Debentures - Series 6Z 
maturing 2 June 2026 977 977 1,078 1,078 

Newfoundland and Labrador 
Hydro Debentures - Series AF 
maturing 1 December 2045 526 520 589 589 

Province of Newfoundland and 
Labrador Debentures - Series 
maturing 17 October 2029 40 40 45 45 

Province of Newfoundland and 
Labrador Debentures - Series 
maturing 17 October 2030 7 7 8 8 

Province of Newfoundland and 
Labrador Debentures - Series 
maturing 2 June 2027 - - 1,357 1,376 

Province of Newfoundland and 
Labrador Debentures - Series 
maturing 17 October 2033  - - 1,265 1,281 

Province of Newfoundland and 
Labrador Debentures - Series 7G 
maturing 2 June 2029 - - 961 1,018 

Province of Newfoundland and 
Labrador Debentures - Series 
maturing 2 June 2030 - - 398 410 
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13. Related party transactions (continued)

(b) Real estate investments:

The Plan manages its real estate through Newvest Realty Corporation, a wholly-owned subsidiary 
incorporated under the provisions of the Canada Corporations Act. It is also registered under the 
Corporations Act of the Province of Newfoundland and Labrador.  All of the shares of Newvest Realty 
Corporation are held by the Plan.       

(c) Private equity and private infrastructure investments:

The Plan manages its private equity (and private infrastructure) investments through PSPP Neptune 
Corporation, a wholly-owned subsidiary incorporated under the provisions of the Canada Corporations Act.  
It is also registered under the Corporations Act of the Province of Newfoundland and Labrador.  All of the 
shares of PSPP Neptune Corporation are held by the Plan. 

(d) Plan administration:

The Corporation manages the Plan on a cost recovery basis. The cost of the services in 2021 totalled 
$11.4 million (2020 - $10.3 million) and included certain direct expenses as well as costs charged to the 
Corporation by the Province including services for disbursement of pension payments.     

(e) Hedge Funds and Private Debt

The Plan manages its hedge funds and private debt investments through 13007588 Canada Inc. 
(Jupiter Corporation), a wholly-owned subsidiary incorporated under the provisions of the Canada 
Corporations Act.  All of the Shares of Jupiter Corporation are held by the Plan.   

14. Commitments

The Plan has committed to invest in certain private equity and infrastructure funds which will be funded in 
accordance with agreed upon conditions over the next several years. As at 31 December 2021, the 
unfunded portion of these commitments totalled $284.1 million (2020 - $433.8 million). This investment is 
made through PSPP Neptune Corporation, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Plan.

In addition, the Plan has committed to invest in commercial mortgages which will be funded upon 
conditions over the next several years.  As at 31 December 2021, the unfunded portion of these 
commitments totalled $nil (2020 - $0.4 million).  This investment is made through Greystone Mortgage 
Fund.

During 2021, the Plan has committed to invest in private debt and hedge funds.  As at 31 December 2021, 
the unfunded portion of these commitments totalled $513.3 million.  These investments are made through 
Jupiter Corporation, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Plan.
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+ Accrued Benefit Obligation: A measure of the Plan’s current liabilities. This includes 
pensions that are currently in pay to retirees or beneficiaries, and benefits from the 
accrued service of active members that are expected to be paid in the future. It is 
determined in the valuations of the Plan, performed by the Plan Actuary, and is based 
on a number of assumptions about the future, such as expected investment earnings on 
the Fund, rates of salary increase, and life expectancy to name a few.

+ Audit and Finance Committee: The Audit and Finance Committee advises the Board 
on financial reporting, accounting systems, and internal controls. They review the annual 
financial statements, recommend, and support internal accounting policies, and develop 
a management profile for risk assessment.

+ Board of Directors: Comprised of 14 individuals appointed by Government, the 
Unions, non-union and an inactive member. The Board has overall responsibility for 
pension administration, corporation management, actuarial reporting, and investment 
management. It acts independently of the Sponsor Body and executive leadership team 
and makes decisions in the best interest of plan beneficiaries.

+ Discount Rate: The discount rate is used to calculate the present value of future 
pension benefits that the plan expects to pay to members as well as contributions it 
anticipates receiving.

+ Financial Statement Valuations: Performed every year as an interim review of the 
Plan’s financial position and are normally based on an extrapolation of the Funding 
Valuation. They are reported in the Plan’s financial statements and allow ongoing 
monitoring of the Plan’s financial health in years when a Funding Valuation is not 
performed.

+ Funding Valuations: Performed every three years in accordance with the Funding 
Policy. These valuations assess the ability of the Fund to pay accrued pension benefits, 
and whether ongoing member and matching employer contributions are sufficient
to cover the cost of benefits that continue to be earned by members each year. The 
results of Funding Valuations determine whether any benefit or contributions changes 
are required under the Funding Policy.

+ Governance and Human Resources (G&HR) Committee: The G&HR Committee advises 
the Board on best practices with regards to matters of governance and human resource 
policy, procedures, and practices. They provide guidance on corporate governance and 
ethics, executive review and compensation, and corporate communication policies and 
practices.

+ Individual Contributions: Each pay period members and participating employers 
contribute equally to the Plan and these individual contributions are collectively invested 
and managed to support retirement benefits.

+ Investment Committee: The Investment Committee advises the Board on the 
investment management and oversight of the Fund. They provide guidance on, and 
monitor implementation of, investment policies, strategies, and mandates. They also 
review total fund and investment manager performance.

+ Joint Sponsorship Agreement: On December 10, 2014, Government and the Unions 
ratified a Joint Sponsorship Agreement (JSA) for the purpose of setting out the terms and 
conditions of the joint sponsorship of the Pension Plan and establishing the Funding Policy.

+ Member and Employer Contributions: Each pay period members and participating 
employers contribute equally to the Plan and these contributions are collectively invested 
and managed to support future benefits.

+ People: Provident10 strives to create a seamless experience for members and a positive 
culture for employees.

+ Process: Provident10 aims to remain an efficient and agile organization, reacting and 
adapting to the evolving times and continuing to be deliberate in approach for the benefit 
of Plan members.

+ Promissory Note: In accordance with the Joint Sponsorship Agreement, Government 
issued a promissory note of $2.685 billion to Provident10 during pension reform. The 
promissory note will amortize over a 30-year period, through quarterly special payments. 
This asset is a non-investment asset and is used solely for the purpose of determining the 
funded ratio of the Pension Plan.



+ Short-Term Incentive Program: The Short-Term Incentive Program (STIP) has been 
designed to promote a shared understanding of the priorities, expectations, and 
performance delivery for participants. It further aligns with the Strategic and Business 
Plan priorities and offers reward opportunity for successful achievement.

The STIP program has Corporate and Individual targets assessed for 0%–150% 
attainment with minimum, target, and excellence performance metrics. The maximum 
total reward is capped. The variable pay STIP is assessed and paid annually. Employees 
re-earn payments each year by successfully achieving annually defined individual and 
corporate objectives.

+ SIP&P: Addresses key matters including the Fund governance, investment objectives 
and beliefs, philosophy, asset mix policy, risk management, permitted types of 
investments, and the responsible investing strategy.

+ Sponsor Body: The Sponsor Body is comprised of 10–14 individuals representing 
Government, the Unions, non-union employers, and pensioners. The Sponsor Body is 
responsible for setting the Plan’s benefit levels, making plan amendments, amending 
the Funding Policy, and determining the level of risk associated with the Plan’s asset 
mix.

+ Technology: Provident10’s philosophy is to embrace technology in a big way as 
the organization modernizes to reduce the burden of pension administration. Protect 
and mitigate digital risks to the business. Ensure transparency, accountability, and a 
consistent experience for members. 

glossary
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